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INTRODUCTION
The Syrian Church in Malabar is an institution which, on ac-

count of its antiquity, its wonderful preservation of the Syriac Scrip-
tures and Liturgy, and the persecution its bishops suffered under the
Portuguese, has, at all times, attracted the interest of the historian,
roused the curiosity of the traveller, and elicited the wonder and ad-
miration of the antiquarian.  It is not astonishing, therefore, that sev-
eral eminent writers, actuated with the best of motives, have turned
their attention to the history of this interesting Church, and have pro-
duced quite a mass of literature on the subject.  But, either because
they had no access to reliable authorities and trustworthy documents,
or because they did not fully grasp the real significance of certain
events, or lastly because they had not sufficient  opportunities of
making local investigations and of becoming acquainted with the
people and the Church they were writing about,-the fact is that even
the best of these historians have made many erroneous statements.
One such error seems to me to tower above all others, and is most
commonly met with not merely in Magazines1 and Reviews2, but also
in serious and learned works intended to enlighten the student of the
history of this Church.  This error is contained in the oft-repeated
statement that the Syrian Church in the fifth century fell into the
Nestorian heresy, and remained Nestorian till the Synod of Diamper
in 1599, when it accepted Catholicism.

This statement I have examined in the following pages, and found
to be erroneous and contrary to the facts of history.  With this end in
view,  I have had to leave off as irrelevant to my purpose, much inter-
esting matter specially concerning the history of the first five centu-
ries of this Church.  For the same reason I have said nothing about the
famous Christian copper plate tablets.  I have divided the subject into
four chapters.  In the first, I have attempted to confirm the origin of
this Church from St. Thomas, because this is to some degree the basis
of my thesis.  In the second chapter, I have pointed out the sources
from which the error originated, and have added a short sketch of the
history of the Eastern Church in so far as it helps to understand the
state of the Indian Church in those remote centuries.  The third chap-
ter I have devoted to a review of the Malabar Church from the origin
of Nestorianism to the Synod of Diamper, with a view to show that,
till the Synod, it had not succumbed to Nestorian or any other heresy.
In the last chapter, I have endeavoured to show, from the very decrees
of the Synod, that this Church could not at that time have been
Nestorian.

THE SYRIAN CHURCH IN MALABAR.
CHAPTER I.

St. Thomas, the Apostle of India.
It is generally admitted by historians that from very early times

there existed a community of Christians on the remote shores of South-
ern India.  The question of their origin, however, seems to have occa-
sioned a difference of opinion.  Some authors assert that this commu-
nity was planted here towards the latter half of the fourth century by

a Syrian merchant, Thomas of Cana; others hold that Christianity was
first preached in these parts in the fifth century by Nestorian Mis-
sionaries from Persia; while a third class of writers account for the
origin of these Christians by the arrival in their midst of St. Thomas,
one of the Apostles of Christ.

This last view seems to be the more probable one.  Eusebius, the
Father of Church History, speaks of Christians in India in 190 A.D.  He
says that, at their request, the philosopher Pantaenus was sent to India
by Demetrius, Bishop of Alexandria.  And Pantaenus bears witness to
the fact that he saw with these Christians a copy of the Gospel of St.
Matthew.3  We see, therefore, that we have to fall back on the view
that it was the Apostle St. Thomas who founded this Church in India.
This view is also supported by the ancient tradition of the Syrian
Christians themselves.  Moreover, the writings of the early Fathers
and Doctors of the Church, such as Abdias 190 A.D., Dorotheus 254,
St. Ephrem 373, St. Jerome 420, and St. Gregory of Tours 593 A.D.,
are in harmony with the tradition4.  Further, a statement in the Anglo-
Saxon Chronicle, and quotations from the accounts and letters of trav-
ellers and missionaries, such as Marco Polo (1288), John of Monte
Corvino (1305),  Friar Odoric (1321), the Pope's legate Marignoli
(1348), and St. Francis Xavier, and the works of historians, such as
the learned Joseph Asseman, and the Jesuit Fathers, Peter Jarri and
Maffeus,5 give us historical information in a line with the tradition of
the preaching and martyrdom of St. Thomas in India.  And lastly,
Epigraphy6 by means of the recently unearthed Takt-i-Bahai inscrip-
tion near Peshawar, and Numismatics by means of numerous coins
found in North-West India,  have afforded strong evidence of the ex-
istence of an Indo-Parthian King Gondophares to whose court St.
Thomas is said in the ‘Acts of Thomas’ to have come.

The proofs alluded to above may be found in any book on the
Apostleship of St. Thomas in India.7  I shall not, therefore, follow the
beaten track, but shall make one or two observations on points gener-
ally overlooked by historians, ¾I mean, the ample local evidence
and the customs and manners of the people who pride themselves on
having been converted by the Apostle.

Of the seven churches in Malabar said to have been founded by
the Apostle, six are still standing, while the seventh, Chayal, is in
ruins.  Of the two families, which, as tradition testifies, were raised to
ecclesiastical dignity by St. Thomas, the one, Sankoorikel (corrupted
from Sankarapurikel), still exists, while the other, Pakolomattam,
seems to exist under the name of Palomattam.  Besides, there are still
a few families which claim, as the result of a special favour promised
by the Apostle, to have had priests without intermission from the
time of the Apostle until the present day.  Such priests call them-
selves the sixtieth, or the sixty-sixth from St. Thomas, according to
the order of their succession from the Great Apostle.  Lately, for in-
stance, I came across a very old manuscript history in Malayalam
verse on the life and labours of St. Thomas in South India.  Therein it
was declared that it was the epitome of a very ancient and original
work written by Thomas Maliekal, a Syrian priest, who was the third
in succession from St. Thomas, and that the abridgment was made by
another Thomas, the father of a priest of the same family who was the
forty-eighth in descent from the Apostle.

An important place-name connected with the labours of the Saint,
is Chowghat.  It figures in ‘Kerala Ulpathy’ or the ‘Origin of Kerala’
as Palayoor.  The common tradition of Malabar associates the change
of name with a miracle.8  It is commonly believed that, as a conse-
quence of this miracle, several Nambudhiris embraced Christianity,
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and if we may rely on the tradition, which, as I shall show, is sup-
ported by outstanding facts, their temple was consecrated for Chris-
tian worship.  A number of Nambudhiris who refused to change their
religion, left the place.9  They cursed the land, calling it Chapakatt
( ), the cursed forest.  The place has ever since retained
the name, though it has been slightly modified into Chavakatt, and
anglicised into Chowghat.  This tradition concerning the name of
Chowghat and the conversion of the Nambudhiris, gains confirma-
tion from the following facts.  First, strict and orthodox Nambudhiris
still consider the place as cursed, and for that reason they do not use
even pansupari when they come there.  Second, an appreciable
Nambudhiri element is a noticeable feature in the ethnic affinities of
the Syrian Christians of those parts.  This is corroborated by Mr. Nagam
Iyah10, who says: “There is no doubt as to the tradition that St. Tho-
mas came to Malabar, and converted a few families of Nambudhiris.
For, in consonance with this longstanding traditional belief in the minds
of the people of the Apostle's mission and labours among high-caste
Hindus, we have it before us to-day the fact that certain Syrian Chris-
tian women, particularly of a Desom called Kunnamkulam, wear
clothes as Nambudhiri women do, move about screening themselves
with huge umbrellas from the gaze of profane eyes as those women
do and will not marry except perhaps in exceptional cases, and that
only recently, but from among dignified families of similar aristo-
cratic descent.”  And lastly, a number of Christian churches there,
exhibit the peculiar architecture of Hindu pagodas.  This fact was
very puzzling to the Portuguese.  We read in Rev. Hough11, for in-
stance, that Father Vincent de Lagos “was displeased at the sight of
the Christian churches so closely resembling the heathen pagodas.”
And Rev. Whitehouse12 says that Father de Lagos “professed disgust
at the peculiar architecture of their churches, comparing them to Hindu
temples, and commenced others in a style more to his European tastes.”

The tradition that St. Thomas largely concerned himself with the
conversion of Nambudhiris13 and high-caste people, finds further sup-
port in some of the customs that are still observed by the Syrian Chris-
tians in spite of the merciless holocaust of a great number of such
customs at the Synod of Diamper.  Corresponding to the “Jatakarmam”
of the Nambudhiris, the father of every Syrian Christian child, thirty-
six hours after its birth, mixes a little honey, ghee and gold and puts it
into the mouth of the infant; six months later, the father places the
child on his lap and feeds it with rice for the first time.  This corre-
sponds to the “Annaprasanam” ceremony of the Nambudhiris.  Again,
the barber is an indispensable person in all marriages.  The “Pulakuli”
ceremony is invariably celebrated on the tenth and eleventh day after
death. This is in strict accordance with the customs of the Nambudhiris,
for other sects of Hindus celebrate this ceremony on the fifteenth and
sixteenth day.  Meat of every kind is rigidly forbidden for this feast,
and the prohibition is very strictly obeyed, and some conservative
families use neither meat nor fish till the year has fully run its course
and the “Andoosraddham” is performed.

Let us now pass from these observations on the resemblances in
the customs of the Nambudhiris and the Syrian Christians, and turn
our attention to some of the authorities who have written on St. Tho-
mas, in order to see how the question stands at present.  Catholic
writers generally admit the Indian Apostolate of St. Thomas.14  Others
hold two different opinions.  Basnage was the first to deny the com-
ing of St. Thomas into India.15  La Croze, Tillemont and Trigault fol-
lowed him in this opinion.  Among modern historians, Rev. Hough
stands preeminent, and basing himself on Basnage, has made an al-
most classical attempt to disprove the evidence for the tradition by
giving a different location to places said to be in India, and by having
recourse to conjectures to explain away difficulties standing in the
way of his theory.  As secondary writers may be mentioned Milne
Rae, Mateer, Logan, and many others who have largely drawn from
the arguments of Hough without adding much original matter to his
masterly exposition.  Now, on the other side, foremost stands the valu-
able opinion of Dr. Buchanan16 who entertained a decided opinion
that “we have as good authority that Apostle Thomas died in India as
that Apostle Peter died at Rome.”  So dispassionate a scholar as Pro-
fessor Wilson17 speaks of the preaching and martyrdom of St. Thomas

in India as occurrences very far from invalidated by any argument yet
adduced against the truth of the tradition.  Rev. Whitehouse18 says that
St. Thomas was the Apostle of India, and requests writers not to sum-
marily dismiss the tradition because one or two great names doubt its
truth.  Dr. Kerr, Bishop Heber, and Archdeacon Robinson attribute
apostolic origin to the Syrian Church of Malabar.  The simplicity and
antiquity of the tradition forces Colonel Yule, the translator of Marco
Polo, to support the Indian Apostolate of St. Thomas.  Dr. Neale, an
expert in ‘ecclesiastical archaeology’ draws evidence from the lit-
urgy of the Syrian Church to prove its origin from St. Thomas.  Rev.
D'Orsey19, after examining all Portuguese writings, is inclined to the
view that the tradition which has always prevailed in Malabar de-
notes a real fact.

We shall conclude these remarks with an attempt to solve two
difficulties that seem to stand in the way of the Apostolic origin of
the Syrian Church of Malabar, viz., the meeting of the Apostle with
King Gondophares and the place-name Calamina referred to as the
scene of the martyrdom of the Saint.

It is now generally admitted that the Indo-Parthian king,
Gondophares, who ruled over the extensive kingdoms of Afghani-
stan, Kandahar, Seistan, Northern and Southern Punjab, lived before
50 A.D. Professor Percy Gardner20 says that some of the coins of
Gondophares “would seem to have been struck not later than the middle
of the first century,” and Mr. Vincent Smith21 admits that “all indica-
tions of his date taken together show that he must have reigned in the
first half of the first century.” There seems to be no reason to doubt
that St. Thomas started in 35 A.D., to preach the Gospel, as Eusebius
says, to the Parthians, and thence to the Medes and Persians.  He
visited the countries to the north-west of India, and though we must
be on our guard in pinning our belief to the events chronicled in the
“Acts of Thomas,” there seems to be no difficulty in the concordance
of dates, and no historical improbability in the tradition that St. Tho-
mas went to the court of the powerful king in whose territories he had
preached the Gospel.  He then retraced his steps, and according to
Catholic tradition, which is supported by St. Gregory of Tours 590
A.D., St. John of Damascus and others, he was present at the demise of
the Blessed Virgin Mary.  He may then have started on his second
Apostolic tour.  He seems to have taught the Gospel in Northern Af-
rica, Ethiopia and Arabia Felix, and taken ship at Aden for Socotra.
From Socotra, he may have proceeded in a coasting vessel to the west
coast of India, and in 52 A.D., reached Cranganore (Kodungallur), the
Mouziris of older geographers, and a flourishing sea-port of those
days.  In this way, the apparent contradiction in the tradition which
says that the Apostle went to the court of King Gondophares, and that
the scene of his labours was in South India, may be easily explained.

As  to the other difficulty of the place of the martyrdom of the
Apostle, historians have been at great pains to identify Calamina with
the name of some town in India.  They have left no map unsearched to
find out Calamina, and have made many ingenious conjectures.  W.W.
Hunter locates Calamina, “probably in some country east of Persia,
or in North India itself.”  Alexander Cunningham ventures to identify
it with Minnagara.  A. Von Gutschmid places it somewhere on the
sea-coast of Gedrosia.  Some others assert that it is the same as
Kearmania.  Even Dr. Medlycott,22 an authority on St. Thomas, makes
an elaborate and very amusing attempt to derive Calamina from
“Kâlâh, the name of a place, and Elmina, which in Syriac denotes a
port.”  To the compiler23 of the Cochin State Manual also, Calamina
has been a stumbling block.  He says it cannot be identified with any
town in South India, and for this reason, he pronounces the verdict of
“not proven” on the Apostolic origin of this Church.

The explanation of the difficulty seems to be the following.  The
ancient, constant and unanimous tradition of the St. Thomas Chris-
tians has always pointed out the Little Mount in Mailapur as the place
of the Apostle's martyrdom.  In the very old MSS. account written by
Ramban Thomas Maliekal, one of the first disciples of St. Thomas, it
is said that the Saint died at “Shinna Malai” ( ) which in
English means the Little Mount.  Moreover, a study of Little Mount
and its environs, even as it is at the present day, would convince an
unbiassed student that the strong local tradition, and the noteworthy
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characteristics of the place, such as the spacious underground cave to
the left of the Altar, the split rock, the fountain of water, the forest
close by, and various other topographical indications,¾all these clearly
mark out Little Mount as the scene of the Apostle's martyrdom, while
the only object of note in Great Mount, improperly called St. Thomas
Mount, is the Pahlavi Cross and inscription, which is entombed in
front of the High Altar.  I would venture further and say that Little
Mount in an out-of-the- way place was gradually neglected, while the
conspicuous Great Mount in a more public place, and close to the
famous Mount Road has been mistakenly pointed out as the Mount of
the Apostle's death, and hence erroneously styled St. Thomas Mount.
Be this as it may, this much is certain that St. Thomas never suffered
martyrdom at St. Thomas Mount.  The mistake made by Dr. Medlycott,
Mr. Mackenzie and others, is to assign a wrong place in Mailapur as
the scene of the Saint's death, and it is no cause for surprise that,
being off the right path by rejecting the place pointed out by reliable
tradition, they cannot reasonably explain Calamina, and are forced
into vague conjectures and erroneous conclusions.

The next question that confronts us is, how does Little Mount in
Mailapur come to be known as Calamina?  It is a well-ascertained
fact of history that, at this early epoch, the trade between India and
Rome was chiefly in the hands of Syrian and Egyptian merchants, and
that the Roman emporiums in Cranganore and other places were kept
by commercial agents who were mostly Syrians and Jews.  It is the
common tradition, and one that is also found recorded in the MSS.
account of Ramban Maliekal, that from almost the very first moment
of the Apostle's death, the Nazaranes in Malabar, whom St. Thomas
had converted to the Faith, made pilgrimages to the tomb of the
Apostle, keeping up the custom up to the present day.  There is noth-
ing improbable in this, that the Syrian merchants and Syrian travel-
lers, who were numerous in South India at this time, should also go
along with these Christians to the tomb of the Saint who had also
preached in their country.  Not only did they go merely on pilgrim-
ages, but some of them, as is evident from later writers and visitors,
seem to have settled down permanently in the proximity of the holy
place.  Considering the little mount that was then pointed out to them
as the place of the Apostle's martyrdom, it was only to be expected
that they should call, it in their own language, as the place appeared
to them Galmona, easily modified in pronunciation to Calmina and
Calamina, a hillock or a Little Mount.  Thus, through these enterpris-
ing Syrians, the place of the Apostle's death came to be known through-
out the East and West as Calamina.  And this is how we find it in
pseudo-Dorotheus of Tyr, pseudo-Hippolytus, the Roman Breviary and
Martyrology. Thus Little Mount, or the place of the Apostle's martyr-
dom, came to be known as Calamina.

On an analogy with this conclusion is the fact that the Portu-
guese in later years called the Little Mount or Shinna Malai, Monte
Pequeno; and it is in this form that Little Mount is found in Portu-
guese writings.

CHAPTER II.
The Early Eastern Church.

We have seen in the first chapter that the balance of opinion is on
the side of the Apostolic origin of the Syrian Church of Malabar. We
shall now enquire whether this Church founded by the Apostle has
always followed his directions and kept the Faith taught by him, or
whether, in the fifth and sixth centuries or later, it fell into the Nestorian
or any other heresy.  We hope to establish that this Church followed
the doctrines of the Catholic Religion till the Synod of Diamper in
1599, and that historians have made a mistake in saying that it fell
into Nestorian heresy and was brought back to the Catholic Faith only
in 1599, through the efforts of Archbishop Alexius Menezes of Goa.

At the very outset of this enquiry it will greatly help us to have a
right understanding of the subject, if we explain how it has come
about that in nearly all the works, whether written by Protestants or
Latin Catholics, it is unanimously asserted that this Church was
Nestorian till 1599.  Geddes (1694), La Croze (1724), Buchanan (1814),
Hough (1839), Whitehouse, Milne Rae (1892), and others, affirm in
the clearest terms that after the first four centuries, this Church fell
into Nestorian heresy and was brought back under the authority of
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Rome by the indefatigable zeal of Archbishop Menezes.  Gouvea
(1606), D'Souza (1710).  Joseph Asseman (1728), Le Quien (1740),
Raulin (1745), Fra Bartolomeo and several Latin missionaries have
persistently maintained the same.  In short, all those who have writ-
ten on this subject, are agreed in branding the Syrian Church with the
stigma of Nestorian heresy.

We shall now briefly point out the origin of this error.  We shall
examine, for that purpose, whether all these writers are original au-
thorities, or have derived their information from earlier writers, and
if so, from whom, and lastly, whether the information recorded by the
early writers was correct and could be trusted.

It is a canon of historical criticism that for the validity of the
statements of a witness, his sincerity should be far and above suspi-
cion.  On this point De Smedt24 says:¾ “It is not sufficient merely to
show that the witness did not wish to utter a deliberate lie.  If it could
be reasonably shown that he had a personal interest in warping the
truth, grave suspicions would be raised as to the veracity of all his
statements.  Frequently prejudice or passion secretly perverts the natu-
ral sincerity of a man who really respects himself and esteems the
respect of others.  It is possible, and that with a certain good faith, to
deceive both oneself and others.”  Bearing this maxim in mind, let us
turn to the first book that positively speaks of the Nestorianism of the
Christians of St. Thomas in Malabar.

The book that is responsible for the dissemination of this opin-
ion throughout Europe, is the ‘Jornata’ of Gouvea.  Antony Gouvea
was a Portuguese Augustinian friar at Goa.  He possessed the full
confidence of Archbishop Menezes, under whose guiding hand he
composed his history at the command of the Provincial of his Order
in Portugal.  The Archbishop was also an Austin friar.  Gouvea, there-
fore, besides a regard for his own reputation and his obligation to
obey the command of his Superior, was naturally actuated by a zeal
for the credit of his Order, to give an account of the Synod favourable
to the Portuguese.  The Archbishop, for the same reason, took great
care that nothing should be introduced tending to convey an injurious
impression.25  Gouvea had, therefore, a most difficult task.  He had to
obey the command of his Superior; he had to follow the advice of the
Archbishop; and he had a personal interest in maintaining the dignity
and interests of his Order.  It is no wonder, then, that he failed to write
an impartial account.  He has given us quite a one-sided view of the
subject.  In fact, his work reads like an apology for the intrusion of
Alexius Menezes to Malabar.  In 1603 he wrote in Portuguese his
narrative of the tour of the Archbishop  Menezes in Malabar, and his
account of the Synod of Diamper.  Three years later, he published it at
Coimbra.  It is this book that first created in the minds of the Europe-
ans the impression that the Syrian Church was Nestroian, and that it
was the unremitting labours of the Portuguese Missionaries that
brought them into the pale of the Catholic Religion.  Basing himself
on this original work, D'Souza wrote his ‘Oriente Conquistado’ in
1710.26  La Croze, Asseman27, Le Quien, Raulin and all the succeed-
ing writers based themselves on Gouvea.  The errors of Gouvea, there-
fore, speedily spread all over Europe.  Thenceforward the Syrian Church
is considered as having been Nestorian for nearly a thousand years.

Not long after, Michael Geddes an Edinburgh graduate who had
come to Balliol College, Oxford, was sent to Lisbon in 1678 as chap-
lain to the English factory there. During his ten years’ residence abroad,
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he made himself thoroughly acquainted with the Portuguese language.
He obtained a copy of Gouvea, and was so captivated with the infor-
mation it contained, that, when in 1688 he was forbidden by the In-
quisition to continue his work as chaplain, and had to return home, he
published in 1692 ‘The Acts and Decrees of the Synod of Diamper,’ a
literal English translation from the original Portuguese.28 Two years
later, basing himself on the erroneous statements contained in the
Jornata, he published in London in 1694 ‘The History of the Church
in Malabar.’29  This book cannot be given any more weight than a
mere English re-arrangement of the work of Gouvea.  This history,
the first of its kind published in English, spread through all the En-
glish-speaking world the false notion that the Syrian Church had once
fallen into the Nestorian heresy.  With Geddes,30 as his chief author-
ity, Hough wrote his “Christianity in India,” Whitehouse his “Lingerings
of Light in a Dark Land,” and Milne Rae his “Syrian Church in India.”
The last writer voices the general feeling of the want of a more trust-
worthy and impartial guide when he says, ‘It is much to be regretted
that there is no history of the Synod written by a representative of the
Syrian community ....... To foreign scholars, the Syrians likewise owe
their knowledge of the history of their own Church.’  The remark is
very true, but we must not leave out of count the common Malabar
tradition31 as to what was actually done at the Synod of Diamper.

Another source of this error is a confusion of terms. ‘Nestorian’
is the name that is commonly applied to the Syro-Chaldaic language.
When Nestorianism spread in the Eastern countries, the language of
the people which was then Syro-Chadaean underwent certain modifi-
cations of character and pronunciation, and came to be known by the
name of Nestorian.32  Nestorian and Chaldaean were therefore used as
convertible terms.  Consequently, historians have indiscriminately
called all those who used this modified character of Estranghela or
oldest Syrian, Nestorians.  But it can be easily proved that, at the
beginning and even at the heyday of the Nestorian heresy, there were
Syro-Chaldaeans in those parts, who vigorously opposed the spread
of these pernicious doctrines, and defended their ancient Faith against
its incursions.33  The lives of Simon, Bishop of Beth-Arsam in Persia
(510-25),34 Bishop St. Isaac of Nineveh,35 Bishop Sahaduna36 of
Garmiah, and the Monk John Saba37 of the monastery of Delaita, bear
witness to the above statement.  These lived in the sixth century and
did yeoman service to the Catholic religion.  And yet it is constantly
asserted that the entire East had turned Nestorian and even the Catho-
lics were called Nestorians.  This practice continued for some centu-
ries. Hence, in 1445, these Catholics, improperly called Nestorians,
sent a petition to Pope Engenius IV; and the Pope ordered, under pain
of excommunication, that, in future, they should not be called
Nestorians, but Catholic Chaldaeans.38  Again, in 1553, Cardinal
Maffeus, in his declaration on the state of the Chaldaean Church made
before the Cardinals assembled in Rome to witness the conferring of
the pallium on Simon Sulaka, said, “The Chaldaeans seem to have
had but the name of Nestorians, but not to have held any Nestorian
error.”39  In 1580 also we find that Mar Elia, Archbishop of Amed, in
a letter to Cardinal Carafa at Rome, begged His Eminence to obtain
an order from the Holy See to abolish the improper practice of ad-
dressing the Syro-Chaldaeans as Nestorians, and to call them Orien-
tal Chaldaeans or Assyrian Catholics.40   Thus we see that it was very
common to call the Chaldaean Catholics ‘Nestorians’, and it is not
strange, therefore, that historians41 considered them all heretics.

We shall now briefly examine the history of the Eastern Church,
specially in the fifth and sixth centuries, in order to see whether and
how far the course of events that affected the history of this Church,
produced corresponding results in the Indian Church which was united
to it even from early times.

Towards the close of the second century, Ahad Abuei,42 who had
been elected Bishop of Seleucia, went to Antioch to be consecrated.
But he was attacked by the Persians, at the instigation of their king.
He managed to escape to Jerusalem, but his companion Kam-Jesus
fell into their hands and was put to death.  On hearing this disastrous
news, the Patriarch of Antioch allowed the bishop to be consecrated
in Jerusalem, and declared that in future, bishops chosen for the see
of Seleucia, might be consecrated in Seleucia itself, and that they

need not go to Antioch for consecration.43  Soon after this concession,
the Primate of Persia was consecrated Metropolitan of Great India.
Both these facts are attested by the Council of Nice in 325.  The former
custom is recorded by the 33rd Arabic Canon of the Council.  “Let the
See of Seleucia which is one of the Eastern cities be honoured like-
wise and have the title of Catholicon, and let the prelate thereof or-
dain Archbishops, as the other Patriarchs do, that so the Eastern Chris-
tians who live under  heathens may not be wronged by awaiting the
Patriarch of Antioch's leisure, or by going to him, but may have a way
opened to them to supply their own necessities; neither will any in-
jury be done to the Patriarch of Antioch thereby, seeing that he has
consented to its being thus, upon the Synod's having desired it of
him.”44  The latter custom is to be inferred from the signature of one
of the prelates present at the Council.  The prelate signs himself as
“John the Persian [presiding over] the Churches in the whole of Persia
and Great India.”  We have no proofs that Bishop John was the actual
reigning prelate of Great India, and it is very improbable that a bishop
could exercise direct and immediate jurisdiction over two such dis-
tant bishoprics as Persia and India.  The signature of the bishop also
merely implies the ultimate control he held over the Indian Church.
We see, therefore, that, at the Council of Nice, Seleucia was with-
drawn from the jurisdiction of Antioch, and was erected into an inde-
pendent Catholicon or Patriarchate.  The Patriarch was given power to
consecrate Bishops and Archbishops for the Eastern Christians.  Per-
sia, therefore, came under his authority, and as it was the Primate or
Metropolitan of Persia that consecrated bishops for the Indian Church,
this Church was also brought indirectly under the control of Seleucia.

Let us now turn to the origin and progress of Nestorianism. In
428 A.D., Nestorius, a monk of the Monastery of Eprepius, was cho-
sen by the Emperor Theodosius II to be the Patriarch of Constantinople
in succession to Sissinius.  Consecrated in April of the same year, he
showed great zeal against the few remaining advocates of the Arian
heresy.  But while combating one heresy, he fell into another.  He had
allowed Anastasius, a newly ordained priest of Constantinople to
preach against the heretics.  In one of his sermons, Anastasius said
that it was improper to give Mary the title “Theotokos” or Mother of
God.  “Let no one,” said he, “designate the Blessed Virgin as the Mother
of God.  Mary was merely human and God cannot be born of a human
creature.”45  Nestorius, instead of contradicting this declaration, ad-
vocated the view advanced by Anastasius.

According to the view of Nestorius the Incarnation was merely
“the indwelling of God the Word in the man Jesus, and consequently
God had not been truly made man.”  In its further development it
necessarily led to the conclusion that there were two sonships, one
Divine and the other human, one of God and the other of the Virgin
Mary; and that there were two persons, entirely distinct and separate,
between whom there existed only an external or moral and not a hy-
postatic union.46

Cyril, Patriarch of Alexandria, was the great opponent of
Nestorius. To discuss these new doctrines, the Emperor Theodosius II
convoked the Council of Ephesus in 431.  There were 256 bishops
present.  They examined the writings of Nestorius, discussed the term
‘Theotokos’, and finally the Council unanimously condemned the doc-
trines of Nestorius.

The writings of Nestorius, however, found favour with some in-
fluential persons, and two of them, Ibas and Thomas Barsumas, were
obliged to leave the school of Edessa for their advocacy of the Nestorian
heresy.  To none of all its friends is the Nestorian Faith indebted so
much as to Barsumas, who was created bishop of Nisbis in 435.47  The
Nestorians, who had been turned out of their homes at Edessa, were
protected by him.  In 498, Babaeus, whom Barsumas had won over to
Nestorianism, ascended the throne of Seleucia.  The following year
he held a synod in which the Nestorian party was organised.  The
Catholicon of Seleucia thus became Nestorian.

It must not be imagined, however, that all the bishops, priests
and people followed the Patriarch in this change of religion.  There
were Catholics in all the countries under the authority of Seleucia.
Le Quien48 says :¾“Although the Nestorian heresy had spread itself
in all the regions of the Persian Empire, yet there were not wanting in
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those places, persons who preserved the Catholic Faith free from both
Nestorian and Jacobite49 heresies, and they were called by those two
sects Melkites.”  Joseph Asseman50 asserts that in 528 the greater part
of the Christians of Persia were Catholics. Not only were there Catho-
lics in those places, but we have also some indications of the exist-
ence, at least for a time, of a line of Catholic Metropolitans in Seleucia,
under the authority of the Melkite Patriarch of Antioch.  Le Quien,51

for instance, quotes the testimony of Barhebraeus and other eminent
writers to show that “the Nestorian Patriarch Abraham III had ob-
tained from the Sultan an order that the Primate of the Melkites or
orthodox Chaldaeans should not be called Catholicos and should not
consecrate bishops for the provinces under him.  The Catholicus of
the Melkites, on account of this noxious order of the Sultan, had to
consecrate bishops and archbishops for the provinces under him, in
secret and during night.  When in 911 A.D., the Melkite Catholicus
was consecrating a bishop, the Nestorian Patriarch came to know of it
by means of his spies and had them both taken before the Sultan who
imposed heavy fines on them.”  It is through these Melkite Catholici
that the Catholic Patriarchs of Antioch claimed Asia, India, etc., as
part of their Patriarchate, and not because they ever sent bishops, or
directly governed those provinces.52  In 1050, the Catholic Patriarch
of Antioch wrote that his see was large and extensive and that he had
under him two Catholici, to whom were subject Asia, India, and other
countries.53  Finally, in 1053, we find the Patriarch, Peter of Antioch,
raising his voice of protest against the innovations and the schism of
Michael Caerularius, in defence of the Catholic Faith.  He says 54 : “It
is to be feared that you [Caerularius], in trying to heal these differ-
ences, may only make a schism, which is worse, and that, in trying to
lift them up, you may cause a great calamity.  Consider what would
certainly happen if that great first and Apostolic See be divided from
our holy Churches: wickedness would spread everywhere, and the
whole world would be upset, the kingdoms of all the earth would be
shaken, everywhere would be much woe, everywhere tears.”  This is
probably all the evidence we have of the existence of a line of Catho-
lic Metropolitans, or Catholici.

Let us now turn to the events that affected the Church in Persia.
The Persian Church had been founded by missionaries from Syria55,
and its language, discipline and doctrines were, therefore, identical
with those of the Syrian Church.  From the beginning of the fourth
century, it was governed by numerous bishops, and a little later, this
episcopate was divided into ecclesiastical provinces governed by
Metropolitans.  “The Metropolitan of Persia had suffragans on both
sides of the Persian Gulf and even beyond it in the islands of Socotra,
Ceylon and, on the Coasts of Malabar.”56

During this time and for some centuries following, the Persian
Church suffered severe persecutions.  The persecuted Christians and
even Bishops, at least on two occasions, sought an asylum in Malabar.
Sapor II (310-381) began a cruel persecution of the Christians.  A
colony of 400 Christians, therefore, left their native land, and in 345
betook themselves to the hospitable shores of Malankara, where, along
with the native Christians, they were permitted to freely practise their
religion.  In the fifth century, as we have seen, the peace of the Per-
sian Church was disturbed by theological disputes.  About 500 A.D.,
the arms of Nushirvan and his fiercer grandson  were assisted by
Nestorian sectaries who still lurked in the native cities of the East,
and their zeal was rewarded by the gift of Catholic churches, which
were, however, soon after recovered by the Emperor Heraclius.57  In
his treaty with the Persian king Chosroes I, the Emperor Justinian
(518-565 A.D.) introduced some conditions which tended to the tol-
eration of Catholicism in Persia.58  In the long contest that raged be-
tween Rome and Persia, the Catholics generally suffered persecution59

as being in sympathy with the Romans who professed the same reli-
gion.  The role of the Persian Kings as persecutors of Christians was
now played by the Caliphs.  In 632 they conquered Persia, captured
Antioch in 698, and for more than two centuries, the persecution lasted
with only brief intervals.  One consequence was that a second colony
of oppressed Christians with two Bishops started for Malabar and
reached Quilon in 880 A.D.

We have seen that, when in 49860 the Catholicus of Seleucia be-

came Nestorian, some of the bishops, priests and people refused to
acknowledge him any longer as their religious head, and held fast to
the ancient Faith.  One of the most important of these bishops was the
Primate of Persia.  It is very necessary to investigate this point, for
we have seen that the Indian Church was linked to the Persian and
was supplied with bishops by the Primate of Persia.  We have, how-
ever, an important document which supports our statement.  It is a
letter which has been overlooked by several historians, and has not
been given the importance it deserves by others who have noticed it.

Jesujabus Adjabenus, who was the Nestorian Patriarch of Seleucia
from 650-660, in his letter61 to Simon, the Primate of Persia and Met-
ropolitan of Ravardshir,62 says :¾

“Since the gift of God has been flowing through the narrow ways
of the canons, and through lawful messengers allow it to flow.  Be-
hold, the earth is full of bishops, priests and faithful, who, like the
stars of heaven, are increasing every day.  But in your country, from
the time you have revolted from the canons of the Church, the succes-
sion of priesthood has been cut off from the people of India; not from
India alone, which extends from the shores of Persia as far as Colon
(Quilon)¾a space of more than twelve hundred parasangs63¾but
also your own country of Persia lies in darkness deprived of the light
of Divine doctrine which shines forth through bishops of the Truth.”

Francis Day64 seems to have this letter in mind when he says that
the Nestorian Patriarch declared “that the Churches in Persia and In-
dia were in a declining state owing to the neglect of the Primate of
Persia stating that as he now refused to acknowledge the authority of
Seleucia, the succession of priesthood had been cut off from India.
Relying upon Apostolic succession direct from St. Thomas, the Pri-
mate of Persia now considered the authority of the Patriarch of Seleucia
unnecessary.”  Whitehouse,65 noticing this letter, merely says that the
Persian Metropolitan revolted against the Patriarch of Seleucia for
some “unexplained cause.”  Dr. Medlycott66 and Mr. Mackenzie67

merely mention the revolt without drawing any inference whatever
from it.

This letter clearly shows that, when the Catholicos of Seleucia
became Nestorian, the Primate of Persia, true to his religion, refused
any longer to obey a head who had strayed away from the ancient
Faith.  And the Nestorian Patriarch did not succeed in winning over
the Persian Metropolitan, before the ninth century.  Till that time, the
Metropolitan, seeing that he had no immediate Catholic superior, ‘re-
lied,’ as Day says, ‘on Apostolic succession direct from St. Thomas,’
and continued independent of Seleucia for a century and a half, when
we have the first recorded instance of these facts.  Day is not quite
exact when he says that the Metropolitan considered the superior au-
thority ‘unnecessary’.  It is more correct to say that he found it inde-
fensible and opposed to his obligations as a Catholic prelate.  And the
‘unexplained cause,’ alluded to by Mr. Whitehouse, is to be explained
by the refusal of the Metropolitan to follow his superior in the change
of religion.  During all this time, then, the Indian Church remained
Catholic through the Catholic Metropolitans of Persia who had their
see in Rivardscir.

The Metropolitans of Persia continued independent of Seleucia
till the time of the Nestorian Patriarch Timotheus68 who resided at
Bagdad.  But in 800 A.D. the Metropolitan submitted to the Patriarch,
and Persia thus became Nestorian.

But at that time, and long after, there have been faithful Catholic
bishops, priests and people in Persia, Syria, Mesopotamia, and all the
countries affected either by Nestorian or Jacobite heresy, in which the
jurisdiction was directly exercised by the Patriarch of Seleucia or in-
directly by the Metropolitan of Persia.69  Moreover several Nestorian
and Jacobite bishops abjured their doctrines and joined the Catholic
Church.

In 945, for instance, several Nestorian bishops of Cappadocia,
Media, Persia and both Armenias, joined the Church of Rome.70 In
1145 there was a union of the Nestorians of Armenia with the Catho-
lic Church.71  Mar Timothy, Chaldaean Archbishop of Cyprus- Tarsis,
was received in communion by Pope Eugene IV at the Florentine
Council72 in 1445.  There were other illustrious persons in those parts
who followed the Catholic Religion.  Their names can be found in the
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ponderous volumes of Joseph Asseman, who is very exhaustive and
is, on the whole, a reliable authority on the history of the Eastern
Church.

Let us close this chapter with an examination of the statement
that is commonly made even by historians of high standing, that there
have been no Catholic Patriarchs of Seleucia from the time of Babaeus
to that of Simon Sulaka (1553).  Yet a close  study of the pages of
Asseman, Le Quien, Guriel and others, and a careful perusal of the
Vatican documents which have been recently searched out by the
learned Samuel Giamil,  Procurator General of the Catholic Chaldaean
Patriarch at the court of Rome, and published in 1902 under the title,
“Genuine Relations between the Apostolic See and the Chaldaean
Patriarchs,” reveals the undeniable fact that, so early as the 8th cen-
tury forward, there have been Catholic Patriarchs on the throne of
Seleucia.

Joseph Guriel, who has composed a “Catalogue of Chaldaean
Patriarchs,” says, “Historians assert that Marimme, who sat on the
throne of Seleucia for four years (758-762), abjured Nestorianism and
joined the Roman communion during the Pontificate of Stephen III.”73

In 1226, Mar Sabar Jesu V, the Patriarch of the Chaldaeans, sent his
profession of faith to Rome through his vicar Ara.  It was also signed
by the Archbishop of Nisbis, two other Archbishops, and three Bish-
ops. This interesting document may be read in Giamil.74  In 1247, Mar
Makika II requested communion with Rome and sent his profession
of faith through his legate Andreas to Pope Innocent IV.75  In 1304,
Mar Jabalaha III (1281-1317) sent a letter to Pope Benedict XI, con-
taining his profession of faith and requesting reconciliation with the
Catholic Church.76  From 1490-1599, we shall show elsewhere that all
the Patriarchs of Seleucia were Catholics.  Suffice it to note here,
that, at the confirmation of Sulaka as Patriarch of Seleucia in 1553,
the Pope Julius III declared that the discipline and liturgy of the Syr-
ians had already been approved by his predecessors Nicolas I (858-
867), Leo X (1513-1521), and Clement VII (1523-1534).77

CHAPTER III.
The Indian Church from 498 A.D. to 1599 A.D.

In this chapter we shall investigate the state of the Indian Church
from the close of the fifth century to the beginning of the seven-
teenth, and we shall pay special attention to the religion of the bish-
ops who have governed this Church.

The first historical notice of the Indian Church after a Nestorian
Catholicos had occupied the see of Seleucia, is given by Cosmas
Indicopleustes who visited India in 522 A.D.  In his “Christian Topog-
raphy”78  he says:¾ “We have found the Church not destroyed but
very widely diffused and the whole world filled with the doctrine of
Christ which is being day by day propagated and the Gospel preached
over the whole earth.  This, as I have seen with my own eyes in many
places, I, as a witness of the truth, relate.  In the island of Taprobane
to the interior India (ad interiorem Indiam), where the Indian Ocean
is, there exists a Christian Church where clergy (clerici) and faithful
are found; whether further also I do not know.  So also is Male, as
they call it, where the pepper grows.  But at Calliana (they call it thus)
there is a bishop generally ordained in Persia; similarly also, in the
island which is called Diascoris, situated in the Indian sea, priests are
found who have been ordained in Persia and sent thither.”

We must remember that at this time Justinian was the Roman
Emperor, and that during his reign, to use the words of Gibbon, “it
became difficult to find a church of the Nestorians within the limits
of the Roman Empire.” and the Nestorians had all been crushed by
the penal laws.79  Moreover we have seen that during this time and the
three centuries following,  Persia was Catholic.  Hence, bishops or-
dained in Persia who came to the Indian Church, could not have been
Nestorians.  Further, from the words of Cosmas, “we have found the
Church not destroyed, but very widely diffused,” we may infer that he
is speaking of the ancient Faith which, there was a tradition, had been
long established in India.  This, it seems to me, is what he means, for
he writes to his brethren at home that the rumour that the ancient
Church was destroyed is not true, and that he has seen this Church
with his own eyes not destroyed but widely diffused.  Nestorianism,

moreover, had been seated on the throne of Seleucia only for twenty-
four years. We cannot believe that within so short a period it could
have been established in India and also destroyed.  In any case, there-
fore, the bishop whom Cosmas met in India could not have been a
Nestorian, and there is nothing in the words of Cosmas to show that
he was one.  I am, therefore, at a loss to understand how writers,
basing themselves on this passage from Cosmas, maintain that the
Malabar Church at this time was Nestorian.

In a previous section, we have made it clear that the Indian Church
was dependent on Persia and that it was the Metropolitan of Persia
who consecrated bishops for this Church.  We have also shown that
when the Catholicos of Seleucia became Nestorian in 498 A.D., the
Metropolitan of Persia refused to obey him and continued in that state
of independence till the time of the Nestorian Patriarch Titmotheus in
800 A.D.  All this time the Indian Church practised the Catholic reli-
gion and was obedient to the Catholic Metropolitans of Persia.  But
what was the condition of the Indian Church after 800 A.D.?  The
common answer to this question is that till the beginning of the 17th
century this Church was Nestorian.  We have, however, strong grounds
to doubt the validity and accuracy of this answer.

After 800 A.D., it would appear that the Indian Church broke off
its communion with the Metropolitan of Persia who had now become
Nestorian, and indeed with the Eastern Church altogether till 1490.
There seems to be only one instance of intercourse during this time
between this Church and the Persian.  It was in 880 A.D., when, as we
have seen, two bishops came to Quilon as a result of persecutions at
home.  But after this event, for a period of more than seven centuries,
we have no authentic record of the coming here of any bishop from
the Eastern Church.  There seems to be a haze over this period of the
history of the Indian Church, for the records for the history of this
period are very meagre.  But, in what we possess, we find no mention
made of any bishop coming to India from the East before 1490.  Con-
sequently, to understand the real state of the Indian Church during
these “dark ages,” we have to turn to the letters and writings of Mis-
sionaries who have come to India from the beginning of the 14th
century onward, and we must understand correctly the significance of
the inscription on the two crosses which have fortunately been pre-
served to this day.

Let us then examine the evidence afforded by the bas-relief crosses
with Pahlavi inscriptions, which are to be seen in the churches at the
St. Thomas Mount and at Kottayam.  Dr. Burnell80 is of opinion that
the earliest settlements in South India were Persian and that a few
inscriptions still remain which belong to that period.  The most fa-
mous of these inscriptions, he says, is the miracle-working cross of
St. Thomas at the Mount near Madras.  There are two crosses of a
similar make which may be seen in the Syrian Church at Kottayam.
Of these two crosses the earlier appears to be the one in the south wall
of the Kottayam Old Church.  Judging from the formation of the let-
ters Dr. Burnell81 places this cross and the one at the Mount not later
than the 7th or 8th century.  The other cross behind a side altar of the
same church, is dated at least two centuries later.  Besides a line in
Pahlavi, it contains also one in the ordinary Estranghela character.

Scholars have given various readings, and consequently various
translations, of the inscriptions around the cross.  The inscription on
the cross at the Mount and on the older cross at Kottayam has been
thus rendered by Dr. Burnell82 :¾ “In punishment by the cross was
the suffering of this one, who is the true Christ, God above and Guide
ever pure.”  Dr. Haug translates it thus:¾“He that believes in the
Messiah and in God in the height and also in the Holy Ghost is in the
grace of Him who suffered the pain of the Cross.”  Dr. West gives a
still different rendering:-“What freed the true Messiah, the forgiving,
the upbraiding from hardship?  The crucifixion from the tree and the
anguish of this.”

The translation given by Dr. Burnell is generally admitted to be
the best.  It is clear from it that the One who suffered punishment by
the cross ‘is the true Christ and God above,’¾ i.e., He had the true
human nature and the Divine, and was, therefore, at the time of the
crucifixion, both man and God.  Now, this belief, as we have seen, is
opposed to Nestorianism, which inculcates that only the man Christ
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suffered.  Consequently these bas-relief crosses declare one of the
doctrines of the Catholic Church, and they must have been planted
here as monuments of the Catholic Religion by some Persian Catho-
lic missionaries.  This conclusion is confirmed by the fact that the
Metropolitan of Persia was Catholic at the date attributed to the crosses
by Dr. Burnell.

The inscription on the later cross at Kottayam has been thus ren-
dered by Dr. Burnell83.  Estranghela Syriac :¾“Let me not glory ex-
cept in the cross of our Lord Jesus Christ.”  Pahlavi:¾ “Who is the
true Messiah and God above and Holy Ghost.”

Even taking this translation84 as it stands, it is opposed to the
doctrines of Nestorianism.  For it says that Our Lord Jesus Christ,
“who is the true Messiah and God above, and Holy Ghost,” suffered
on the cross, i.e., the Godhead suffered on the cross.  Hence it is clear
that this bas-relief cross and this inscription could not have been put
up here by Nestorians.

The following general remark by Dr. Burnell strongly supports,
not merely the particular view I have drawn from the inscription on
the crosses, but my thesis as a whole.  He says:¾85 “The Syrians
(Nestorians and Jacobites) appear to have had very little influence
over the Christians in the West  Coast of Southern India, before the
16th century; for the early Catholic Missionaries speak generally of
Christians of St. Thomas86 and not of Nestorian heretics.”

The next event in the history of the Indian Church is the arrival
in 880 A.D. of two bishops, Mar Sapor and Mar Prodh.  Le Quien87

says that “these bishops were Chaldaeans and had come to Quilon
soon after its foundation.  They were men illustrious for their sanctity,
and their memory was held sacred in the Malabar Church.  They con-
structed many churches and, during their lifetime, the Christian reli-
gion flourished especially in the kingdom of Diamper.”  They led so
saintly a life that many churches were dedicated in their name, and
we shall see that Archbishop Menezes changed the names of such
churches, and dedicated them to “All Saints” at the Synod of Diamper,
for the only reason that they came from Babylon.  There is, moreover,
not a shred of evidence to prove that they were Nestorians.88

In the year 1122, we come across a valuable piece of information
to which, in my opinion, sufficient importance has not been given by
historians.  We read in the life of Pope Calixtus II,89 in the chronicle of
Albericus written in the 13th century, in Le Quien90 and others, that
Archbishop Mar John of India, otherwise known as Patriarch of India
went with his Suffragan Bishops to Constantinople. There, at the court
of John II Comnenus, he found the envoys whom Calixtus II had sent
to promote the union of the Greek and Roman Churches.  The Arch-
bishop went with them to Rome, received the pallium, and exposed
before the Pope and the Cardinals the miracles that were wrought at
the tomb of St. Thomas in Mylapore.  These facts are well authenti-
cated, and cannot be denied.  If the Indian Church was at this time
Nestorian, the Archbishop should have gone to the Catholicos of
Seleucia, or to the Metropolitan of Persia, his immediate superior.
The very fact that the Archbishop went to Constantinople and to dis-
tant Rome, points to the fact that he professed the Catholic Religion,
and consequently, the Indian Church of which he was Archbishop or
Patriarch, was also Catholic.

Let us now consider the writings of some missionaries and trav-
ellers which throw light on the condition of the Indian Church.  John
of Monte Corvino was the first Latin missionary to visit India.  On
his way to China in 1291 he landed in India.  In the two letters he
wrote from China in 1305 and 1306, he says not a word on the
Nestorianism of the Christians of India but merely mentions that “the
people persecute much the Christians and all who bear the Christian
name.”

In 1328, Pope John XXII, who was residing at Avignon, conse-
crated Jordanus, a Dominican friar, as bishop of Quilon.91  He was
sent with a Pontifical Bull dated 8th April, 1330 addressed to the
chief of the Nazranes in Quilon.  If at that time the Christians of
Quilon were Nestorians or any other congregation except Catholics,
the Pope would not have sent a bishop to them, for we cannot imagine
a bishop without a diocese which he has to administer, and without
people whom he has to govern.  We conclude, therefore, that the people

to whom the Pope sent Bishop Jordanus were Catholics.
A valuable evidence of the true condition of the Indian Church is

forthcoming in the year 1348.  In that year Pope Clement VI sent the
Franciscan Bishop, John de Marignoli, as his legate to these Chris-
tians. Marignoli says92:¾“Nor are the Saracens the proprietors of
pepper, but the Christians of St. Thomas. And these latter are the
masters of the public weighing office, from which I derived as a per-
quisite of my office as Pope's legate, every month, a hundred gold
fanams and a thousand when I left.... So, after a year and four months,
I took leave of the brethren.”

Finding themselves powerful, the Christians chose a king from
among themselves, to rule over them.93  The orthodoxy of this dy-
nasty is clear from the testimony of Pope Eugene IV, who, in 1439,
send to the reigning prince the following letter94:¾ “To my most be-
loved son in Christ, Thomas, the illustrious Emperor of the Indians,
Health and Apostolic Benediction.  There has often reached us a con-
stant rumour that your Serenity and all who are the subjects of your
kingdom are true Christians.”

These two passages clearly prove that the Indian Church at this
time was Catholic. In the first instance, it is absurd to believe that the
Pope would send his legate to a Nestorian people, and that they would
gladly receive him, and pay him monthly, as a perquisite of his office,
100 gold fanams, and ten times that sum when he left.  In the second,
the Pope styles the Emperor his most beloved son in Christ, and bears
witness to the constant rumour he has heard that the Emperor and all
the subjects of his kingdom are true Christians.

The next historical mention of this Christian community is to be
found in the “Travels of Ludovico di Varthema.”95  Varthema says in
1505:¾“In this city (Kayenkolam or Quilon) we found some Chris-
tians of those of St. Thomas, some of whom are merchants and believe
in Christ as we do.  They say that every three years a priest comes
there to baptise them, and that he comes there from Babylon.  These
Christians keep Lent longer than we do, but they keep Easter like
ourselves, and they all observe the same solemnities that we do.  But
they say Mass like the Greeks.”  It is evident from this that the belief
in the incarnation of Christ that obtained in the Indian Church was
the same as that of the Catholic Church to which di Varthema be-
longed.  Moreover, it is apparent that this Church observed Lent and
Easter, but they said Mass in the Syriac Rite.  We are informed also
that the Syrian Church was dependent on Babylon at this time.  But
the see of Babylon, as we shall show, was governed by a Catholic
prelate.  We have, therefore, to conclude that the Indian Church was
Catholic.

Mr. Mackenzie, in his article on ‘Christianity in Travancore,’96 in
the official State Manual, after discussing the contention that ‘the St.
Thomas Christians before the arrival of the Portuguese were not
Nestorian heretics,’ merely admits that it is ‘a possible view which
can be argued.’  His most important argument for not giving his full-
est support to the contention is ‘the historical fact that they obtained
five bishops from the Patriarch of Babylon, and that the Patriarchs of
Babylon were Nestorians.’

Mar Simon, Patriarch of the East, at the request of the Indian
Christians, sent them in 1490 two bishops, Mar Thomas and Mar John.
Mar Thomas after a time returned to the Patriarch, leaving Mar John
alone to administer the Indian Church.  On the death of Mar Simon in
1502, Mar Elias, his successor consecrated three monks from the
monastery of St. Eugene under the names of Mar Jaballa, Mar Denha
and Mar Jacob.  These started for India in company with Mar Thomas,
and found the aged Mar John still living.  These are the bishops al-
luded to by Mr. Mackenzie.

In 1504, these bishops sent a long report to their Patriarch.  The
full report may be read in Giamil.97  We take only a few extracts from
it.  “There are here thirty-thousand families common in faith with us,
and they pray God for your prosperity.... Our province in which the
Christians dwell is called Malabar, and has about twenty cities.... In
all these, Christians live and churches have been built... About twenty
Portuguese live in the city of Cannanor.  When we arrived from Ormuz
at Cannanor, we presented ourselves to them, said that we were Chris-
tians and explained our condition and rank.  They received us with
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great joy, gave us beautiful garments, and twenty drachmas of gold,
and for Christ's sake they honoured our journey more than it deserved.
We remained with them for two and a half months, and they ordered
us that on a fixed day we also should perform the Holy Mysteries,
i.e., should offer the Oblation.

They had prepared a proper place for prayer, which they called
the Oratory, and their priests offer sacrifice every day and complete
the Holy oblation; for that is their custom and rite.  Whereof on
Nosardel Sunday, after their priests had celebrated, we also were
admitted and performed the holy sacrifice, and it was greatly pleas-
ing in their eyes.98  We started thence and arrived among our Chris-
tians who dwell at a distance of eight days from that place.”

From this passage in which Mr. Mackenzie seems to find his
strongest evidence for the Nestorianism of the St. Thomas Christians,
it is not difficult to show that these bishops and the people they report
about are Catholics.  For it cannot be maintained that the Portuguese
priests at Cannanor, after they had said Mass, would allow these for-
eign bishops to offer their Oblation on the sacred altar if they were
Nestorians.  How could they, moreover, hear it through and tell the
bishops that they were greatly pleased with the Oblation, unless they
were perfectly sure that these prelates who were offering the Holy
mysteries in a language unknown to them were Catholic bishops of
an Oriental Rite in communion with Rome, and that, as such, there
would be nothing objectionable in allowing them the use of the sa-
cred altar and in being present for the Oblation? This must necessar-
ily be the explanation since these bishops had made known to the
Portuguese their condition and rank and had remained with them for
two and a half months¾time amply sufficient to detect their heresy,
if any.  Moreover, the fact that Jacob Abuna, who, as we shall see, was
a Catholic bishop praised as such by St. Francis Xavier, was one of
these bishops, leads us to conclude that the four others his compan-
ions were also Catholic bishops.  And as to Mar John, who was ad-
ministering alone the Indian Church when these four bishops came,
De Souza says that he lived in the church at Cranganore and that he
raised to life the sacristan of that Church who had died from a fall.
Francis Roz S.J., Archbishop of Angamale for a short time, read this
event in an old Chaldaean manuscript.99  It would further be noticed
that, in this report submitted by the bishops, there is nothing to show
that either they or the people were Nestorians.  Hence this catena of
testimonies forces us to conclude that these bishops, the people to
whom they came, as well as the Patriarch who sent them, were all
Catholics.

It was only on Vasco-de-Gama's second voyage to India in 1502
that the Christian community in Malabar came under his personal
observation.  The interview he had with the Christians may be given
in the words of the “Asia Portuguesa100”:¾ “Here (at Cochin) Don
Vasco received ambassadors who said they came from some Chris-
tian inhabitants of that neigbouring country the metropolis whereof
was Cranganore, and they were to the number of 30,000 that St. Tho-
mas had preached to their forefathers, that they were subject to the
Patriarch of Armenia, that they were infested by the pagans, that they
knew he was an officer of the most Catholic King of Europe to whom
they submitted themselves delivering into his hands the Rod of Jus-
tice.  This rod was red, about the length of a sceptre, ends tipt with
silver with three bells at the top.  They were despatched with hopes of
a powerful assistance.”  Another interesting incident given by the same
author shows that, at this time the Christians had images in their
churches, and so they could not have been Nestorians, for the venera-
tion of images is strictly forbidden to the Nestorians. The Portuguese
were taken to see one of the churches of these Christians.  “In the
middle was a round chapel of good structure with brass gates; within
it was the statue of a woman, which, by reason of the darkness, could
not be perfectly discovered.  The Portuguese looking upon it and ask-
ing what it was, the Malabars answered aloud and with a joyful rever-
ence, ‘Mary, Mary, Mary,’ and prostrated themselves on the ground.
Our men did the same judging that to be the image of Our Lady nor
were they deceived, for it could be no other, those people many ages
before having professed Christianity.”101

In 1504 Suarez de Menezes captured Cranganore and ordered it

to be burnt.  “The work of destruction had begun when some Chris-
tian inhabitants of the place came and entreated him to desist, repre-
senting that within the city were several churches dedicated to the
Virgin and the Apostles which would be destroyed.  The conflagra-
tion was therefore stopped.”102  This fact, if examined in the light of
the religious intolerance that was the characteristic note of those days,
plainly shows that the Christians to whom the Portuguese behaved so
kindly could not have been of any other religious denomination ex-
cept their own, i.e., they were Catholics.

In 1530, John D' Albuquerque who had come to Goa as the first
Portuguese Bishop, sent to Cochin a Franciscan, Father Vincent de
Lagos, to educate the Syrian Christians.  Father Vincent opened a
seminary for the Syrian youths who wished to study for the priest-
hood.

The great missionary St. Francis Xavier set foot on Indian soil
6th May 1542.  We are concerned here not with his varied missionary
activities, but with some of his letters which prove very clearly that
Francis Xavier was amply convinced of the orthodoxy of the St. Tho-
mas Christians.

In a letter of the 14th January 1549, he writes to St. Ignatius
Loyola103:¾“Fra Vincenzo has founded a really fine Seminary where
quite as many as a hundred native students are maintained and are
formed in piety and learning.... He has asked me again and again to
provide a priest of the Society who may teach grammar to the stu-
dents of the seminary and preach to the inmates and the people on
Sundays and festivals.  There is reason for this, because, besides the
Portuguese inhabitants of the place, there are a great many Chris-
tians living in sixty villages in the neigbourhood, descended from
those whom St. Thomas made Christians.  The students of this semi-
nary are of the highest nobility.  In this town (Cranganore) there are
two churches, one of St. Thomas, one of St. James.  Fra Vincenzo,
whom I have mentioned, hopes much that you will get each of them a
plenary indulgence once a year from the Holy Father, on the feasts of
St. Thomas and St. James and the seven days after each.  This would
be to increase the piety of the natives who are descended from the
converts of St. Thomas and are generally called Christians of St. Tho-
mas.”

After an interval of only fourteen days Francis Xavier wrote to
Father Simon Rodriguez a smilar letter104:¾“There (at Cranganore)
there is a fine college which was built by Fra Vincenzo, the compan-
ion of the Bishop, where as many as a hundred youths, children of the
native Christians, who are called Christians of St. Thomas, are edu-
cated; for there are sixty villages of these Christians of St. Thomas
around the town, and from them the students I speak of are derived.
At Cranganore there are two churches: one of St. Thomas, which is
very piously frequented by the Christians of St. Thomas and another
of St. James adjoining the college.  Fra Vincenzo wishes very much
that indulgences should be obtained for both these churches to be a
consolation for these Christians and to increase their piety.  So I beg
you very much to procure, either through our people at Rome or through
the Pontifical Nuncio at Lisbon, a yearly plenary indulgence for each,
beginning from the Vigil of St. James and the Vigil of St. Thomas
respectively, and lastting for the eight following days.  I would have
this indulgence offered only to those who may have duly approached
the Sacraments of Penance and holy communion, and then piously
and devoutly visited these churches at Cranganore.”

In a letter105 to John III of Portugal, dated 26th January 1549,
Francis Xavier makes mention of Mar Jacob, the only one still living
of the five Bishops who had been sent by the Patriarch in 1502.  “It is
now five and forty years that a certain Armenian Bishop, by name
Jacob Abuna, has served God and Your Highness in this country.  He
is a man who is about as dear to God on account of his virtue and
holiness as he is neglected and despised by Your Highness and in
general by all who have any power in India.  God thus rewards his
great deserts Himself, and does not think us worthy of the honour of
being the instruments whom He uses to console His servants. .....While
I have been writing this, I have seemed to myself to be serving and
doing a favour not so much to that pious Bishop as to Your Highness...
For at present Your Highness is very greatly in want of the goodwill
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and intercession of a man very acceptable to God as he is.... This
Bishop very greatly deserves such treatment on this account if on no
other-that he has spent much labour in attending to the Christians of
St. Thomas, and (even) now (et nunc) in his all but decrepit old age, he
conforms himself most obediently to all the rites and customs of our
holy Mother the Roman Church....I would urge Your Highness to write
it (him a letter) full of all manner of expressions of your favour, es-
teem and affection.”

These letters of St. Francis Xavier are very important documents
to prove the orthodoxy of the St. Thomas Christians in those days.  In
the first of the three letters Francis Xavier requests St. Ignatius to
provide a priest of the society to teach grammar to the students of the
Seminary, and to preach to the people on Sundays and festivals; for he
sees the important role this institution, which was unique in India at
the time, would play in educating for the priesthood the sons of the
highest nobility, through whose instrumentality the whole of Malabar
could be converted to the Christian Faith.  He asks St. Ignatius to
obtain for each of the churches a plenary indulgence once a year from
the Holy Father, and that, in order to increase the piety of the natives
who are descended from the converts of St. Thomas and are called
Christians of St. Thomas.  It cannot for a moment be believed that St.
Francis would interest himself so much as to write two letters to two
different persons to obtain a plenary indulgence¾something foreign
to the Nestorian or any other faith except the Catholic religion¾for
the Church of St. Thomas, to increase the piety of these Christians, if
they were not already Catholics.  Hence the reasonable deduction, and
the one strongly held by St. Francis himself, is that the Church of St.
Thomas was Catholic, and so were all the St. Thomas Christians who
very piously frequented it and sent their sons to the seminary to be
educated for the priesthood.

The third letter of St. Francis is also very important.  We have
seen that, of the five Bishops who were in Malabar in 1504, there was,
by the year 1540, only one still living, and that was Mar Jacob, or
Jacob Abuna.  This letter is important as giving Francis Xavier's opin-
ion of the Faith of this Bishop after he had been acquainted with him
for a period of seven years.  It should be noted that we have not a
shred of document to prove that this Bishop had ever changed his
religious convictions, or abjured by word of mouth or in writing any
error or heresy he may have so long held; such a document is not
forthcoming in the writings of even the stoutest upholders of the
Nestorianism of the St. Thomas Christians.  We are consequently jus-
tified in asserting that the faith of this Bishop was the same during a
course of forty-five years from 1504-1549, that in the interval it had
not undergone any modification whatever, that this was also the Faith
of the Bishops, his companions, who started with him and who con-
jointly submitted the report, and that this was the same Faith as that of
the Patriarch who sent him and his companions, and finally that this
Faith was exactly the same as that of the thirty-thousand families of
St. Thomas Christians about whom the report was submitted.  Conse-
quently we see the importance of this letter.  Let us examine it care-
fully. “It is now five and forty years that a certain Armenian Bishop,
by name Jacob Abuna, has served (inservit, serves) God and Your High-
ness in this country.  He is dear to God on account of his virtue and
holiness.”  St. Francis would not surely have written of this virtuous
and holy Bishop as serving God for forty-five years, if he had, during
this time, been a Nestorian, and he would not have counted these
years as spent in the service of God if the Bishop had passed them as
a Nestorian heretic.  Moreover, it is not likely that Francis Xavier
would have said that a heretic bishop was very dear to God, and would
have asked the King of Portugal to earn for himself the intercession
before God of a heretic Bishop.  Further, the Saint himself admits that
the holy Bishop conformed himself most obediently to the customs
and rites of the Roman Church.  Hence there cannot be two opinions
on the issue that Mar Jacob was a Catholic Bishop.

The testimony of orthodoxy which these letters proclaim, says
Mr. Mackenzie, cannot be easily explained away.  I assert that these
letters, and the whole attitude of St. Francis Xavier and the early
missionaries towards these Christians¾treating them so kindly, pro-
viding them a Seminary for the education of their sons for the priest-

hood, and always referring to them as the Christians of St. Thomas
and never once as Nestorians,¾ all these facts place the orthodoxy
of these Christians on a very solid basis, and establish in the clearest
terms that these Christians of St. Thomas were Catholics under the
jurisdiction of a Catholic Patriarch who was obedient to Rome.

In 1549, the aged Mar Jacob died, and for the next six years the
Syrian Church was without a Bishop.  Meanwhile some changes were
taking place in the Patriarchate of Babylon.

On the death of Simon Mama, of good memory, in 1551, many
Chaldaeans, dissatisfied with the custom that had grown up of elect-
ing as Patriarch only candidates of the Bar-mama family, chose John
Sulaka, a pious monk, and sent him to Rome.  Pope Julius III conse-
crated him as Patriarch of the East. He returned home, but was put to
death by the Turks in 1554.  His successor, Ebedjesus, followed his
example, visited Rome, and assisted at the last session of the Council
of Trent.  He consecrated Mar Joseph, a brother of John Sulaka, as
Archbishop of the Syrian Christians on the Malabar Coast.

As a Catholic prelate of the Syrian Rite sent by the Chaldaean
Patriarch, Mar Joseph refused to ordain the students of the seminary
at Cranganore who belonged to the Syrian Rite, but who had not been
taught the Syriac language.106  This refusal lost him the favour and
earned the ill-will of the Portuguese, who, from that time forward,
never ceased to persecute him and his successors.  Finding no rea-
sonable grounds to send him out of the country, they had recourse to
their favourite weapon¾a weapon, as we shall see, so often used
with such disastrous effects¾that the Bishop taught the Nestorian
heresy.  Before long, he was taken to Goa and thence deported to
Portugal.  There he made so favourable an impression on Cardinal
Don Henry and others, that he was naturally sent back to govern his
people.107  The Portuguese authorities at Goa, however, did not allow
him to proceed to his diocese, but detained him at Bassein.

When Mar Joseph was deported to Portugal, the Patriarch, in-
formed of these events, immediately sent Mar Abraham as Bishop of
the Syrian Christians.  He escaped the vigilance of the ‘argus-eyed
and many-handed’ agents of the Portuguese, by travelling in disguise
and through circuitous roads, and arrived among the Syrian Chris-
tians.  The Portuguese, deeming this a good opportunity to create
dissension and discord in the community and win over one party to
their interests, released Mar Joseph from his detention at Bassein and
sent him to his diocese.  Soon after, however, Mar Abraham fell into
their hands, and was shipped off to Portugal.  He managed to escape
at Mozambique, made his way to the Persian Gulf, and presented
himself before the Patriarch relating to him his experiences in India.
He was sent to Pope Pius IV, who requested the Patriarch to conse-
crate Mar Abraham as Archbishop of Angamale, and to divide the
Christians of St. Thomas in Malabar between Mar Abraham and Mar
Joseph.108

Let us first consider the career of Mar Joseph.  He prescribed
vestments in the Roman style for priests when saying Mass.  He in-
troduced the host and wine as used by the Portuguese; whereas the
Syrian priests were till then making use of fermented bread and wine
in accordance with the customs of all Oriental Churches.  These inno-
vations notwithstanding, the Portuguese accused him a second time
of heresy, and on such an unfounded charge, they reported him to
Cardinal Don Henry who placed the case before Pope Pius V, and
requested him to empower the Archbishop of Goa to enquire into the
doctrines of Mar Joseph. In 1567, Mar Joseph attended the First Pro-
vincial Council of Goa, and the charge of heresy being framed against
him, he was sent to Portugal and thence to Rome.  There, after an
examination by the Pope and Cardinals, they were convinced that the
charge of heresy was unfounded.  Recognising his great learning,
piety and other virtues, they resolved to create him a cardinal,109 when
his unexpected and suspicious death110 put an end to any such project.

In 1568, Mar Abraham arrived at Goa with credentials from the
Pope and the Patriarch, in which the Pope requested the Archbishop
of Goa to receive Mar Abraham as a brother.  The arrival of Mar
Abraham disconcerted the Portuguese, for it threatened to subvert
their designs, and they determined to prevent his return to the coast.
“The Archbishop, therefore, took upon him to declare the Pope's briefs
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to be null and void, as having been obtained under false pretences111,”
and Mar Abraham was confined in the Dominican Convent at Goa.
He managed to escape, however, and reached his diocese.  In 1578, he
received a summons to attend the Provincial Council of Goa.  He
refused on the ground that he was responsible only to his Patriarch112,
and that he had been ill-treated and twice thrown into prison at Goa.
To this effect also he induced the Raja of Cochin to write to the Pope113.
Two years later the Pope wrote to the Archbishop of Goa, requesting
him to “receive kindly our venerable brother the Archbishop of
Angamale, and so to contrive that here and elsewhere he may experi-
ence your humanity and love.114”  The Pope also wrote to the King of
Portugal recommending to his Majesty “the venerable brother the Arch-
bishop of Angamale who had been grievously vexed by some per-
sons,” and asking him to “order the Viceroy and Governors of India to
take steps that he be not oppressed with any injury.115”

For the next fourteen years the relations between Mar Abraham
and the Portuguese were normal, though not very friendly.  At this
time three Syrians, Abraham, Joseph and George Raisbander wrote a
valuable letter to the Pope in which they expose the state of the Indian
Church left without a sufficient number of Bishops, and request the
Holy See to send letters to the Patriarch asking him to consecrate five
Bishops for this Church as has been done by the Patriarch from the
very beginning.116  In 1579, Mar Abraham requested the pallium from
the Pope, and there is a Memorandum on the subject in the Vatican
Library.117  In 1584, Mar Abraham informed the Pope that, in virtue
of the powers granted him by the Patriarch, he had appointed Arch-
deacon George, Bishop-elect of Palur, to be his coadjutor and succes-
sor, and requests the Pope to confirm the appointment.118

In 1578, there arrived on this coast, a Bishop Mar Simon, calling
himself the Metropolitan of the St. Thomas Christians.  The best au-
thorities are agreed that he was a Nestorian Bishop.  He fixed his seat
at Caduthuruthi and gathered some adherents.  But the letter119 of Pope
Gregory XIII, dated March 1580, sent on the recommendation of Mar
Abraham to the Syrian Christians, “to be obedient in the Lord to Mar
Abraham, your Archbishop, and to George the Bishop of Palur, and in
sincerity of faith and simplicity of manners, persevere and live in the
unity of our Holy Mother, the Chruch,120” put an end to any prospect
the Bishop had of influencing any considerable section of the people.
As resolved in the third Council of Goa, 1585, he was arrested and
sent through Goa to Portugal and thence to Rome.  Before his arrest,
however, he managed to appoint Jacob, a Syrian Priest, as his Vicar-
General.  Mar Jacob followed in the wake of his Superior, taught
Nestorian doctrines, and continued the schism for a space of twelve
more years.121

The Society of Jesus had been allowed by Mar Abraham in 1574
to work in his diocese.  In 1581 they had opend a college, built a
church and set up a printing press in Vaipicotta.  Two years later, at
their instance, Mar Abraham convoked a diocesan synod in which
Mass was said in both Syriac and Latin.122  In 1584, a seminary was
added to the college, and as both Syriac and Latin were taught in it, it
was much frequented by the sons of the St. Thomas Christians.  In a
letter one of the Jesuit Fathers wrote to the Pope, he praises Mar
Abraham and Archdeacon George, and suggests the latter as the fit-
test man for the administration of the diocese after the death of Mar
Abraham.123

In the Provincial Council of Goa in 1585, Mar Abraham was
asked to re-ordain some of the priests he had ordained according to
the Chaldaean rite, because the Portuguese considered that the ordi-
nation of priests with the imposition of hands and with the empty
chalice and paten was invalid, whereas this has been the recognised
practice of Oriental Churches at all times.

The Council of Goa, in the 7th decree of the 3rd session, had
ordered the translation of the Latin Mass into Syriac for the use of the
St. Thomas Christians. Mar Abraham, as we have seen, had, at the
earnest request of the Portuguese, consented to some changes in the
ceremonies of the Mass, of ordination, and in the use of unleavened
bread and wine of grapes.  This he had done without consulting his
Patriarch.  The Patriarch, therefore, called upon him to submit an ex-
planation of his conduct.  Mar Abraham answered that he did these

things at the insistence of the Portuguese “who were over his head as
a hammer over an anvil.”

This explanation, Gouvea mistakenly says, was demanded, not
by the Catholic but by the Nestorian Patriarch.124  And the statement
has been repeated without the slightest modification and without any
examination into the details of the issue by Dr. Geddes, and it is to be
found faithfully reproduced in Hough, and is accepted as a historical
fact by Day, Whitehouse and all later historians.

After this warning from the Catholic Patriarch, Mar Abraham
refused in 1590 to ordain the clerical students of the Vaipicotta Semi-
nary,125 because he was asked to ordain them according to the Latin
Ritual.  Two years later he refused to attend the Fourth Council of
Goa.  Thereupon the Portuguese sent unfavourable reports of his con-
duct to the Pope, accusing him of Nestorian heresy.  But Mar Abraham
had now finished his life-work.  Peter Jarri, S.J.,126 testifies that ‘Mar
Abraham loved the Jesuits, invited the Rector of Vaipicotta to his death-
bed, committed his flock to the care of the Jesuits, and commanded
all his clergy to obey them and regard the Pope as their own Patri-
arch.’ He died in 1597.

Thus we see that Mar Joseph and Mar Abraham lived and died as
Catholic Bishops, and yet historians have invariably written of them
as Nestorian bishops.

CHAPTER IV.
The Synod of Diamper 1599.

We intend in this chapter to point out briefly that some of the
decrees of the Synod of Diamper, which have been presumably drawn
up to expose and correct the so-called Nestorian errors of the St. Tho-
mas Christians, as well as the events that preceded the Synod itself,
are the best and most obvious proofs that these Christians were Catho-
lics even before the Synod.

In the year 1594, Father Alexius de Menezes, a young man of
thirty-five, was appointed Archbishop of Goa.  The following year he
landed in India.127  The authenticity of the two Briefs of Clement VIII
by which the Archbishop claimed jurisdiction over the Malabar Church,
is very doubtful.  For it is said in one of them that the Pope com-
manded him upon the death of the Archbishop Mar Abraham “to take
possession of this Church and bishopric, so as not to suffer any Bishop
or prelate coming from Babylon to enter therein as has hitherto been
the custom.”128

We have seen, however, that Mar Abraham had informed Pope
Gregory XIII that, acting upon the powers he had received from his
Patriarch, he had appointed Archdeacon George, Bishop-elect of Palur,
to be his coadjutor and successor and had requested the Pope to con-
firm this appointment.  That the Pope had granted the request, is clear
from the fact that His Holiness, when warning the people against Mar
Simeon, had asked them “to be obedient also to George, the Bishop
of Palur.”129  Hence it seems rather strange that the Pope should have
now empowered the Archbishop “to take possession of this bishop-
ric” without at least informing the Archdeacon of the setting aside of
his legitimate and just claims.  The opinion that the Archbishop was
not sufficiently authorised by the Pope, is confirmed by the words of
the former,130 “that the same was incumbent on us of right¾the said
Church having no chaplain to take care of it during the vacancy of the
see¾as Metropolitan and Primate of this and all the other Churches
of the Indies and the Oriental countries.”  He claims to be by right the
Metropolitan and Primate of all the Churches of the Indies and the
East.  Consequently he does not respect or pay any regard to the time-
honoured authority and ancient prerogative of the Patriarch of Babylon
over the Malabar Church.  He throws to the winds the order of Pope
Pius131 “to preserve inviolate the jurisdiction of the Patriarch and of
the Bishops he may appoint over the Indian Church,” and to find some
plausible reason for this usurpation, he labours hard to show that he
took charge of the Archdiocese, because “it was vacant, and there was
no one to take care of it during the vacancy.”  How contrary this
statement is to facts we have seen, for the Bishop of Palur had the
right of succession.  The Archbishop, moreover, knew that both Mar
Abraham and the Bishop of Palur had applied to the Patriarch for
another Bishop.  In response a Bishop and a Priest were sent.  But the
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ever active agents of the Archbishop were so closely watching all the
ports, that they could not elude their vigilance and were discovered at
Ormuz and sent back.  Thus Menezes did his utmost to make the see
fall vacant, that he might with some justification take possession of
it.

Not long after, Archbishop Menezes appointed Father Francis
Roz, a Spaniard, to administer the Malabar diocese.  But this appoint-
ment was too glaring a violation of the Archdeacon's claims to be
tamely submitted to by the Syrians. As remarked by Whitehouse,132

“the community was so thoroughly roused, and so strong was the
feeling excited, that the Syrians would no longer permit any Latin
priest to officiate in their churches.” Toned down by this resistance,
the Council at Goa became more prudent, and at their instance, the
appointment of Father Roz was cancelled and the Archdeacon was
reinstated in his rights.  The historian Hough133 is at a loss to under-
stand how the Council at Goa and the Archbishop, in spite of the
Pope's orders “that no one should be placed in charge of the diocese
who was not of the Roman communion,” could appoint the Archdea-
con.  The simple answer is that Archdeacon George was a Catholic,
and consequently there was, in this case at least, no violation of the
Pope's orders.

After this impolitic move on the part of the Archbishop and the
Portuguese, their ultimate object became very plain to the Syrians.
They understood that the whole policy of the Portuguese which they
had been pursuing for more than a century, was to substitute the Latin
Liturgy for the Syriac,134 and if they succeeded in this attempt, they
could exercise complete jurisdiction over the Malabar Church, for
then the Syrians could no more be subject to the Patriarch of Babylon
who would be of a different rite from theirs.  To cloak this ultimate
object, they put forward the favourite plea that if these people fol-
lowed the Syriac Liturgy and submitted to the jurisdiction of the
Chaldaean Patriarch, they might revert to their Nestorian errors.  A
letter135 dated Dec. 19, 1597, written by the Archbishop himself to the
Patriarch of Jerusalem who was then at Rome, is our authority for the
above statement.  “The priests with many people held a meeting and
took an oath that in case His Holiness appointed a Syrian bishop, they
would obey him, but if he sends a Latin bishop (this is the important
point), they will consider what course they would adopt.”  Now, if the
people, priests and Archdeacon were Nestorians, how could they obey
a Syrian Bishop appointed by the Pope, for the Bishop so appointed
could only be a Catholic Syrian Bishop ?  It is evident, therefore, that
the people, priests and Archdeacon were all Catholics who wished to
cling to their Syrian Rite and were ready to submit to a Syrian Catho-
lic Bishop appointed by the Pope.  This conclusion is all the more
evident from the remaining part of the sentence, for even if His Holi-
ness appointed a Latin Bishop, they do not say they will disobey him,
but “will consider what course to adopt,”¾ perhaps petition His Ho-
liness to remove the Latin Bishop and give them one of their own rite.
The letter continues, “An order must be given to the Bishop [who is to
be appointed] that he may extinguish little by little the Syrian lan-
guage which is not natural.  His priests should learn the Latin lan-
guage, because the Syrian language is the channel through which all
that heresy flows.  A good administrator ought to replace Syrian by
Latin.  Above all, it is most important that the Bishop be a suffragan
of this city, as is at present the Bishop of Cochin, his nearest neighbour.”
This is plain and unmistakable language and entirely corroborates the
conclusion I have arrived at above.

On February 1st 1599, Archbishop Menezes landed in Cochin.
He at once applied for co-operation from the governor Antonio de
Noronha and the Hindu Raja of Cochin, promising to procure for the
latter the title of ‘Brother-in-Arms’ of Portugal.136  By thus winning
over the civil powers, by threatening to excommunicate the Archdea-
con, by ordaining a majority of clergy who would zealously lend their
valuable aid to the reforms in the Chaldaean Liturgy, and by cajoling
those already in Holy Orders, and conciliating the chief of the laity,
he prepared them all to listen obsequiously to the decrees which he
had already composed for their acceptance.137  One thing, however,
they unanimously refused to give up.  This was the ancient custom of
praying in the Syrian tongue, declaring that they would rather sacri-

fice their lives than pray in Latin.138  Menezes, seeing that on this
point they would not yield, conceded the question.  This concession,
coupled with the fact that there was merely a change of jurisdiction, a
substitution of Latin bishops for the Syrian, and not a change of doc-
trines, explains what seems to be incomprehensible to Milne Rae,139

who says :¾“History searches in vain for their martyrs, their
Hamiltons and Wisharts, their Ridleys and Latimers.”

The Archdeacon had an interview140 with the Archbishop, in which
the former protested that it would be base on his part to desert the
Patriarch who had been from time immemorial the ecclesiastical head
of the Malabar Church.  He agreed, however, to the convocation of a
Synod, but urged that Menezes, in his tour through the country as a
foreign prelate, should abstain from all essentially episcopal acts, as
these would be very hurtful to the legitimate claims of the Chaldaean
Patriarch and should confine his ministrations to preaching and bless-
ing the people.

Angamale was to have had the honour of giving its name to the
Synod, but for interested motives, Diamper, commonly known as
Udiamperur, within an easy distance of Cochin and its Portuguese
garrison, was finally chosen, and the 20th June was fixed as the aus-
picious day.  We are not concerned here with the details of this his-
toric Synod, which may be read in Gouvea, Geddes, Raulin, Hough
and other authors.  But we are constrained to make a few observations
on certain decrees of the Synod, which clearly attest and confirm the
fact that the Syrian Church in Malabar was Catholic before the Synod,
and as regards making it Catholic, the Synod was a “mere farce,”141

for this Church was united to that of Rome through the Catholic Patri-
arch of Babylon.  The important result of the Synod was that the Por-
tuguese succeeded in their long-laid scheme of bringing this ancient
Church under their jurisdiction.  The Syrian Christians yielded at last
in this unequal struggle, and at the Synod accepted the jurisdiction of
the Latin Archbishop of Goa, and of the Bishops he might appoint,
thus severing their time-honoured connection with Babylon.

It must, however, in justice to the Archbishop and to all who had
any part in convening the Synod, be admitted that some of its Ses-
sions and Decrees were very useful and praiseworthy.142  The Chris-
tians were forbidden to sell arrack, to join their Hindu neighbours in
the sham fights which took place in the month of August during the
Hindu festival of Onam; they were not to resort to witches and for-
tune-tellers, to consult them about such things as lucky and unlucky
days, or to submit at the command of their Hindu rulers to such or-
deals as handling bars of red-hot iron, thrusting the hand into boiling
oil, or swimming across a river infested with crocodiles.  They were
also prohibited from observing the Nambudhiri custom of the separa-
tion of a mother from both religious and domestic ceremonies for
forty days after the birth of a boy and for eighty days after the birth of
a girl.

These few salutary reforms, however, were obtained at a very
heavy cost, the cost involved in the loss of a very old Liturgy, and in
the substitution of a new rite, the Syro-Malabar Rite, different from
both the Chaldaean and Latin Rites, with Syriac as the liturgical lan-
guage into which parts of the Latin Missal have been translated with
additions taken from the old Liturgy, and with certain peculiarities
preserved from the ancient rite, which, in the minds of the authors of
the Synod, did not savour of Nestorianism.  The present Syro-Malabar
Rite is a sad contrast in its new form, after it had passed through the
ordeal of the Synod, to the former beautiful and ancient Syro-Chaldaean
Rite, which, according to Dr. Fortescue,143 “is the first that we find
formally drawn up.”

Now let us examine some of the decrees of the Synod.  Here is an
extract from the circular144 of Menezes convening the Synod, which
speaks for itself:¾“We were also moved by the piety of the people,
and the mercy God had shown them in having preserved so many
thousand souls in the Faith of our Lord Jesus Christ, from the time
that the Holy Apostle Thomas had preached to them until this day,
notwithstanding their having lived among so many heathens and been
scattered in diverse places, their churches and all belonging to them,
having been always subject to idolatrous kings and princes and en-
compassed with idols and pagodas, and that without holding any cor-
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respondence with any other Christians before the coming of the Por-
tuguese into these parts; we being likewise desirous that the labours
of the Holy Apostle, St. Thomas, which still remained among them,
should not be lost through want of sound doctrine....did determine
and prepare to go in person to take possession of the said bishopric.”
In the same circular, we read, “we do, therefore, by virtue of holy
obedience and upon pain of ex-communication, [latae sententiae],
command the Revd.  the Archdeacon of this diocese and all the other
priests of the same, that shall not be hindered by age or some other
just impediment, to be present at the said town of Diamper, there with
us to celebrate a diocesan Synod, conformable to the holy canons.....We
do under the same precept and censure command all Christians in all
towns and villages of this bishopric....to choose four of the most
honourable, conscientious and experienced persons among them to
come in their name to the said Synod with sufficient powers to ap-
prove, sign, confirm and consult in their name, so as to oblige them-
selves thereby to comply with whatsoever shall be determined at the
Synod.”  The impression which a careful reading of these passages
and the whole circular leaves on the mind of an impartial person, is
naturally that the Archbishop is calling upon a Catholic people, to
attend the Synod, under the heaviest penalty of the Church, viz., that
of cutting them off from the communion of the Faithful in case any
one should willingly absent himself from the Synod.  These threats of
ex-communication would otherwise be meaningless.  Moreover, the
Archbishop himself expresses in the plainest language that the Syrian
Christians were Catholics before the Synod, for he says that the mercy
of God has preserved many thousand souls in the Faith of Jesus Christ,
from the time of the preaching of the Apostle until this day, and that
the labours of the Apostle still remained among them.  Hence, on the
strength of this assertion, we might declare that the St. Thomas Chris-
tians were Catholics before the Synod of Diamper.

But we have still other extracts to be culled from the decrees of
the Synod.  The fourth decree of the first session contains the follow-
ing passage145: “We do admonish and command all Christians as well
ecclesiastics as seculars gathered together in this place to confess
their sins with a true contrition for them, and all priests to say Mass,
and others to receive the Most Holy Sacrament of the altar, beseech-
ing our Lord with humble and devout prayers for good success to all
that shall be treated of in this Synod, to which intent there shall be
two solemn Masses said in the church every day during the session of
the Synod, one of the Latins to the Holy Spirit, and the other of the
Syrians to our Lady. . . . . They shall likewise, Latins as well as Syr-
ians, every day after sunset, sing the solemn litanies of the Church
with a commemoration of our Lady, for the good intention of the
Synod.”  It goes without saying that Dom Menezes would not and
could not allow the Syrian priests to celebrate Mass, and the Syrian
people to receive the Holy Communion, if they were Nestorian her-
etics, and especially if, as is asserted, their Taksas146 contained hereti-
cal passages.  These recommendations were made on the first day of
the Synod, whereas the so-called corrections in the Taksas were made
only on the third day, in the ninth decree of the third session.  It was
indispensable to correct the Missals before allowing them to be used
in the Mass, in order that the Holy Sacrifice might not be performed
with heretical Taksas.  Further, if the Syrian Christians were Nestorians,
how could the sacrilegious Masses of their priests, and the unworthy
Communions of the people, contribute in the least to the good suc-
cess of the Synod ?

Again, in the profession of Faith147 read to the Archdeacon by the
Portuguese, we find:¾“I do also promise, vow and swear to God on
this cross and these Holy Gospels, never to receive into this Church
and Bishopric of the Serra (mountains), any bishop, archbishop, prel-
ate, pastor or governor whatsoever, but what shall be immediately ap-
pointed by the Holy Apostolical See and the Bishop of Rome, and that
whomsoever he shall appoint, I will receive and obey as my true pas-
tor, without expecting any message or having any further dependence
upon the Patriarch of Babylon.”  It is quite manifest, therefore, that
the bishops of this Church were till now appointed only indirectly by
the Pope, they being in the first place immediately and directly ap-
pointed by the Patriarch of Babylon who was in communion with the

Apostolic See of Rome. But now this arrangement is altered and the
Syrian Church is placed directly under the Pope, who appoints the
necessary bishops to it, through the Archbishop of Goa.  This mean-
ing of the passage seems to be clear from the words “without expect-
ing any message” as to whether the Patriarch agrees to the altered
conditions or puts in a protest to the Holy See against the deprivation
by the Portuguese of a part of his Patriarchate wherein he had so long
exercised complete jurisdiction, and “without having any further de-
pendence upon the Patriarch of Babylon” whom the people are called
upon to condemn, reject and anathematise as being a Nestorian schis-
matic and heretic.

Here I may be permitted to bring together a short list of the
Chaldaean Patriarchs from 1490-1600, with a special view to bring
out the fact that the Patriarch at the time of the Synod was a Catholic,
and that the Portuguese were mistaken in styling him a Nestorian.  We
have seen that in 1490 Mar Simon V sent two bishops, and that his
successor Mar Elias had despatched three more bishops to India.  We
have read the report they submitted to the Patriarch in 1504, in which
they say that they were admitted by the Portuguese to say Mass in
their churches.  We have in a previous section established the ortho-
doxy of these Bishops, and consequently of the two Patriarchs who
sent them to India.

We may infer that Simon Mama, the predecessor of John Sulaka
who ruled the Church about 1550, was a Catholic, because, as can be
read in Giamil, the Pope uses the significant and orthodox expression
“of good memory,” 148 when speaking of this Patriarch, and surely there
is not a single instance where the Pope has made use of this appella-
tion when speaking of a schismatic or heretical Bishop or Patriarch.
Moreover, one of the five MSS books of the Chaldaean Pontifical in
the Vatican Library was transcribed in Mesopotamia in 1529, with the
translation of some portion from the Latin Pontifical by the Patriarch
Mar Simon Mama.149  On these grounds we infer he was a Catholic
Patriarch.

The orthodoxy of his successor John Sulaka, who assumed the
reins of government in 1551, has not so far been called in question by
any writer.  He visited Rome, and submitted to Pope Julius III his
profession of Faith, and received the pallium from His Holiness.

His successor Mar Ebedjesus150 went to Rome, assisted at the
last session of the Council of Trent, and was according to Giamil,151

one of the most celebrated Patriarchs of the Catholic Chaldaeans.  He
sent his profession of Faith to Pius IV.  For nearly twelve years he
ruled the destinies of the Eastern Church.

He was succeeded by Ahthalla Simon, about whom Mar Elia,
the Chaldaean Archbishop of Amed, in a letter to Cardinal Carafa in
1580, says152:¾“After the death of Ebedjesus, Mar Ahthalla Simon,
an old man of holy ways, already Archbishop, was elected Patriarch.
On account of the successive wars that were being waged in his coun-
try, and as he did not live for more than two years, he was not able to
procure confirmation from the holy Apostolic See”; and Mar Elia
says that he had been asked by this Patriarch to go to Rome and sup-
plicate for the pallium.  Besides, Le Quien153 places him in the list of
Catholic Patriarchs.  Joseph Asseman also holds the same view.  Hence
the orthodoxy of Mar Simon is established.

On the death of Mar Simon in 1582, Simon Denha was elected
Patriarch in the same year.  As he was ruling the Church at the time of
the Synod of Diamper, it is very necessary to examine his religious
convictions.  Pope Gregory XIII, who examined his profession of Faith,
was satisfied with his orthodoxy, and gave him the pallium, confirm-
ing him as Patriarch.154  Le Quien155 gives him a place among the
Catholic Patriarchs, and asserts that, owing to Turkish persecution, he
transferred his Patriarchal See to Urumiah in Persia.  Asseman156 also
places him in the series of Catholic Patriarchs.  Giamil,157 basing him-
self on Vatican documents, asserts that Simon Denha was a Catholic.
He died only in 1600.  Hence we see that the Patriarch Mar Simon
Denha who was governing the Church in 1599 was a Catholic, and yet
the Portuguese had ordered the people to condemn, reject and
anathematise him as a Nestorian heretic.

Let us make a few more observations on some of the decrees of
this interesting Synod.  The fourth decree158 of the fifth session re-
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veals one of the chief objects of the authors of the Synod, viz., as far
as possible to substitute the Latin Rite for the Syrian Rite of the St.
Thomas Christians.  “The Roman Mass to be translated into Syriac.
Forasmuch as the Syrian Mass is too long for priests that have a mind
to celebrate daily, the Synod doth grant licence for the translating of
the Roman Mass into Syriac, desiring the Rev. Father Roz, S.J., to
undertake the work....... The Synod desires that the bishops of these
parts give licence that the priests of this diocese having letters
dimissory from their prelates, that do not know how to say Mass in
Latin, may be permitted to say the Syrian Mass in their churches, or
at least the Roman translated with all its ceremonies into Syriac.”

The twenty-fifth decree159 of the eighth session is interesting be-
cause it shows how the bishops of the St. Thomas Christians have
been, without sufficient evidence, called Nestorians by the authors of
the Synod.  It runs thus:¾ “It is commonly said that they (the bishops
Mar Sapor and Mar Prodh) came into these parts and wrought miracles,
and returned afterwards to Babylon, from whence they came, others
affirming that they died in Coulan (Quilon), there being nothing writ
of them that is authentic, neither does it appear that they were ever
canonised by the Church, but on the contrary, since they came from
Babylon, there is just cause to suspect they might be heretics.”  The
last part of this decree gives us the true hint to solve the Nestorianism
of the bishops of the Syrian Christians.

The third decree160 of the fifth session condemns a so-called
Nestorian ceremony in the Mass.  This is the wording of the cer-
emony:¾ “In the Syriac Missals of this episcopate, there is an impi-
ous and sacrilegious rite prescribed; the priest holding the parted half
of the host in his right hand, dipped in blood as the host is, makes the
sign of the cross with it on the other half of the host placed in the
paten, which done, he bends the wet portion of the host with the nail
of the thumb of his right hand under the false idea that the blood
would thus penetrate the body and consequently mix the sacred body
and blood.  This opinion and ceremony is a spontaneous outcome of
the Nestorian heresy and its sectaries who impiously assert that under
the species of the bread only the body exists without the sacred blood,
and under the species of wine only blood without the body.”  The
Syrian Cathanars (priests) are forbidden to perform this ceremony by
virtue of holy obedience and under penalty of excommunication in-
curred ipso facto.  Here it must be noted that this “Nestorian” cer-
emony in the Mass, and many other observances of the ancient Syro-
Chaldaean Rite, condemned by the Synod as heretical, and forbidden
to be kept up under pain of excommunication incurred ipso facto, are
still to be found in the Taksas of the Catholic Syrians of Malabar as
well as in those of the Catholics of Babylon, both printed at Rome
with the approbation of the Holy See, and are even to this day ob-
served by them.  Is it not very plain, then, that it was, to say the least,
merely inacquaintance on the part of the authors of the Synod with
the ancient customs and ceremonies of the Chaldaean Rite, that classed
these observances and these ceremonies as a spontaneous outcome of
the Nestorian heresy ?  This, it seems to me, is the reason why His
Holiness the Pope, in prescribing the Taksas for these Churches, did
not pay the least regard to the so-called emendations of the Synod.

Only once did the authors of the Synod try their hand at altering
and adding certain portions to the Syriac Scriptures, and on that occa-
sion they have invariably betrayed their unfitness for the task they
took upon themselves.  Hough161 says:¾“The Syrians did not merit
the censures fulminated against them, for they were not responsible
for the absence from their testament of important passages to be sup-
plied, viz., John viii, 3-11, the second Epistle of St. Peter, the second
and third of St. John, the Epistle of Jude, and the Book of Revelations.
These identical passages are not to be found in the Syriac copy of
Widmanstadius, nor in some very old Greek MSS.”  Hence this at-
tempt once again shows the great mistake which the authors of the
Synod made, of ascribing everything that did not tally with the Latin
Ritual and Ceremonies to the Nestorianism of the St. Thomas Chris-
tians.

The Decrees of this Synod have supplied the Protestant historian
La Croze with materials in his attack on the Catholic Church.  He
tries to show that the Syrian Church, as is evident from the decrees of

the Synod, agreed on all essential doctrines with the Protestant Church.
He says,162 “The acts of the Decrees of the Synod of Diamper, and the
ecclesiastical books of those peoples, as well as the authority of
Alexius Menezes, Archbishop of Goa, and the testimony of Antony
Gouvea, the Augustinian historian, not to speak of ancient and mod-
ern references, all these prove that the Nestorians [so he takes the
Syrian Christians to be, on the Synod's showing] admit the same sac-
raments as the Protestants; they deny Transubstantiation, hate the
worship of images, ignore the doctrine of Purgatory; do not admit
Confession, Communion, Extreme Unction and Matrimony as Sacra-
ments, and lastly refuse obedience to the supreme authority of the
Pope.”

The only answer to this attack is to be found in the fact, that
Menezes and his associates at the Synod, as I have several times pointed
out above, knew little of ancient Oriental Rites and were therefore
mistaken in several of the decrees that were passed at the Synod, or at
the least they were grossly misinformed as to the actual belief and
customs of the Syrian Church.  And this is no matter for surprise
considering the very short time, barely three months, which Menezes
spent amongst the Syrian Christians.  Richard Simon in his “Histoire
critique de la Creance des nations du Levant” p. 113, strongly up-
holds the same view.163  He undermines the position of La Croze “by
affirming that Menezes, Gouvea, and the Fathers at Diamper (Patres
Diamperienses) err as many times as they attribute these errors to the
Nestorians.”

Asseman, in trying to hold the position of an impartial judge in
this controversy, says, “I do not pronounce with Simon that the Fa-
thers at Diamper were mistaken (deceptos) in all the Decrees, neither
do I, with La Croze, absolve them from all errors.  In fact they blun-
dered (hallucinati sunt) when they pronounced that many verses had
been corrupted by the Nestorians in the Syriac New Testament; when
they ordered that the book of Holy Orders should be condemned in
that it did not agree with that of the Latin Rite either in matter or in
form; when they held that this was the form of Baptism of the
Nestorians ‘N... is baptised and perfected in the name of the Father,
and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost’; when they asserted that the
use of the Holy Oil was unknown before in the diocese, and that the
Christians had no knowledge of the Sacrament of Confirmation and
ignored the Doctrine of Purgatory.  The Fathers at Diamper were mis-
taken also when they ordered that the custom of eating meat on Satur-
days should be stopped as being a mortal sin, and when they made
unnecessary and useless alterations in the Liturgy, and decreed that
changes should be introduced into the Syrian Rite as regards the Mis-
sal, the Altar, the Sacerdotal Vestments, and the matter and form of
the bread to be used in the Sacrament of the Eucharist.  They were
also unnecessarily exacting when they ordained that three Masses
should be said on Christmas night, that ashes should be distributed
on Ash Wednesday, that the sign of the Cross should be made from the
right to the left, and many other customs of this kind which are of no
great importance even in the Latin Rite.  It seems to me that they
were mistaken (peccavisse in jure) also in doctrine when they af-
firmed that a bishop is the only lawful (legitimum et solum) minister
of Confirmation, ¾a doctrine which is contrary not only to the ex-
press declaration of the Councils of Florence and of Trent, in which it
is defined that a bishop is not the only absolute, but the ordinary
minister of Confirmation, but contrary also to the common practice
of both the Western Church and the Oriental Churches, which some-
times delegate simple priests to administer this Sacrament.

In these things which I have spoken of the Fathers of Diamper
erred, either because of their ignorance of the Syrian Rite and of other
ancient Oriental Rites, or because of an excessive study of the Roman
ceremonials (ex nimio in Romanas ceremonias studio) to which they
tried by every means to reduce the Syrian Christians.  Their intention
in doing so might have been that they thought that the further the
Syrian Christians were removed from their ancient Rite which was
mixed with errors, the nearer they would approach Catholic Truth.”

He goes on to add that “the Constitutions drawn up by the Patri-
archs, the learned disquisitions of the Doctors, and the Liturgical books
make plain the fact that the ancient Nestorians regarded, as sacra-
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ments, Confirmation, Extreme Unction, Confession and Matrimony;
that they recognised the Body of Christ in the Eucharist, vigorously
defended the worship of images, affirmed the primacy of the Roman
Pontiffs, and lastly they did not dissent from any of the Articles of
Faith of the Catholic Church, except on that of the Incarnation of the
Word.”

It would seem, however, that some of the decrees of the Synod
forbade actual Nestorian ceremonies or errors that had crept into this
Church; for instance, some of the Taksas contained the names of
Nestorius and his sectaries and a few of the books burned by Dom
Menezes seem to have been Nestorian books or may have contained
Nestorian errors.  Now how are these facts to be explained? The ex-
planation is not to be sought, as we have seen, in maintaining that the
Syrian Church as a whole was ever Nestorian.  The untenableness of
such a theory, I hope, I have sufficiently indicated in these pages.  The
real explanation, and the one forced upon me by a special study of
this period of the history of the Malabar Church, seems to be the
following.

We have seen that in 1578 a Nestorian Bishop, Mar Simon, came
to Malabar, remained in these parts for seven years, and that, on his
deportation by the Portuguese, his Vicar-General Mar Jacob carried
on the schism for twelve more years.  The best authorities are, as we
have said, agreed on these facts.  Hence, during a period of nearly
twenty years, Nestorian Taksas, Nestorian books, and with them
Nestorian doctrines and ceremonies, speedily spread within the Syr-
ian Church, especially as the tenth decree of the fifth session of the
Synod testifies, the Syrian Bishops coming from Babylon were rather
ignorant and careless.  There was thus a very small party of the St.
Thomas Christians who had actually become Nestorians.  It is very
probable that these few Nestorian Syrian Christians were all present
at the Synod, because after the Synod we do not even once hear men-
tion made of Nestorians in Malabar.  Moreover, their Vicar-General
Jacob died in 1598, so that, at the time of the Synod, they were with-
out a religious head.  There is therefore, very great probability, that,
left without a guide, they all accepted Catholicism at the Synod.  Hence,
wherever real Nestorian errors are pointed out in the decrees of the
Synod, they are to be attributed to this small following of Nestorians
among the St. Thomas Christians.  That this can be the only valid
explanation, is amply proved, I hope, from some of the sessions and
decrees of the Synod which we have examined, and which indicate in
the clearest terms that the Syrian Church in Malabar, taken as a whole,
was ‘Roman’ Catholic before the Synod of Diamper.
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